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PER CURIAM:  $KPHG�$EX�.KDWDOODK� �³.KDWDOODK´��ZDV�

convicted on several counts related to his involvement in the 
6HSWHPEHU� ���� ������ WHUURULVW� DWWDFN� RQ� WKH� 8QLWHG� 6WDWHV¶�
diplomatic outpost in Benghazi, Libya.  He was sentenced to 
22 years of imprisonment and five years of supervised release.  
He now appeals his convictions under several theories, seeking 
acquittal or at least a new trial.  The government has cross-
DSSHDOHG�� DUJXLQJ� WKH� GLVWULFW� FRXUW¶V� ��-year sentence is 
substantively unreasonably low.  We hold for the government.  
Khatallah has failed to show that he was convicted on legally 
insufficient evidence, that he was prejudiced by any erroneous 
evidentiary rulings or jury instructions, or that he was 
substantially SUHMXGLFHG� E\� WKH� SURVHFXWLRQ¶V� FORVLQJ�
arguPHQWV�� � 2Q� WKH� RWKHU� KDQG�� .KDWDOODK¶V� VHQWHQFH� is 
substantively unreasonably low in light of the gravity of his 
FULPHV�RI�WHUURULVP���7KH�GLVWULFW�FRXUW¶V�GHFLVLRQ�WR�GLVUHJDUG�
conduct for which Khatallah was acquitted cannot account for 
its dramatic downward departure from the Sentencing 
*XLGHOLQHV¶� UHFRPPHQGDWLRQ�� � :H� WKHUHIRUH� reverse his 
sentence and remand for resentencing. 
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I 

A 

,Q�������DIWHU�WKH�IDOO�RI�0XDPPDU�*DGGDIL¶V�UHJLPH��WKH�
United States established a diplomatic outpost, the United 
States Special Mission �³WKH�0LVVLRQ´�, in the city of Benghazi 
³to maintain a diplomatic relationship with those in eastern 
Libya and to support the people of Libya in rebuilding their 
war-WRUQ� FRXQWU\�´�  *RYHUQPHQW¶V� 6XSSOHPHQWDO� $SSHQGL[�
�³6�$�´�����.  ³The Mission was typically occupied by a small 
contingent of [State Department] personnel and members of a 
local guard force, who were employed by [the State 
'HSDUWPHQW@�´� �S.A. 84.  The CIA also established a covert 
IDFLOLW\��³WKH�$QQH[´��DERXW�D�PLOH�DZD\���'XULQJ�WKH�HYHQWV�
relevant here, the U.S. Ambassador to Libya, J. Christopher 
Stevens, was temporarily staying at the Mission.  

On the night of September 11, 2012, dozens of terrorists 
assaulted the Mission under cover of darkness.  Around 9:45 
p.m., the heavily armed militants assembled and forced their 
way through WKH�0LVVLRQ¶V�PDLQ�JDWH�� They opened fire on the 
American and allied security personnel stationed there.  They 
bashed and poured gasoline on Mission vehicles.  And the 
PLOLWDQWV�VHW�ILUH�WR�WKH�³9LOOD�´�WKH�PDLQ�UHVLGHQWLDO�IDFLOLW\�LQ�
the Mission, which was occupied by Ambassador Stevens and 
Sean Patrick Smith, a State Department Foreign Service 
officer.  After initially seeking refuge in a safe room, both men 
died from smoke inhalation while trying to escape the Villa.  
U.S. and allied forces counterattacked, and by around 10:15 
p.m., this first wave of the attack had been repulsed.    

The second wave began around 11:15 p.m., when the 
militants returned to the Mission at another gate and attacked 
the American allies still on the premises using AK-47s and 
rocket-propelled grenades.  The remaining Americans on site 
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quickly evacuated the facility and made a perilous drive to the 
Annex.  The militants gained entry around 11:45 p.m. and 
ransacked the Mission, lighting vehicles on fire and taking 
sensitive information IURP�WKH�0LVVLRQ¶V�7DFWLFDO�2SHUDWLRQV�
Center.  Their work at the Mission done, the militants attacked 
the Annex around 12:30 a.m. on September 12 and then 
retreated after two violent skirmishes.  Around 5:15 a.m., they 
resumed their attack with mortar fire that killed two more 
Americans, security officers Tyrone Woods and Glen Doherty, 
and injured two others.  U.S. reinforcements eventually arrived 
and evacuated the U.S. personnel in the Annex to safety in 
Tripoli.  

$PEDVVDGRU�6WHYHQV¶�GHDWK�shocked the American public.  
AV� WKH�GLVWULFW�FRXUW�UHPDUNHG�DW�VHQWHQFLQJ��³LW�ZDV�WKH�ILUVW�
time in 40 years that a United States ambassador had been 
NLOOHG�LQ�WKH�OLQH�RI�GXW\�´� Sentencing Tr. 50 (June 27, 2018).  
In response, the U.S. government deployed substantial 
resources to find and punish those responsible.  These efforts 
OHG�WR�.KDWDOODK¶V������FDSWXUH�� 

Khatallah is a 51-year-old Benghazi native.  He was 
imprisoned by the Gaddafi regime²allegedly for his religious 
beliefs.  At some point after his release from custody, Khatallah 
EHFDPH� WKH� OHDGHU� RI� ³8ED\GDK� %LQ� -DUUDK´� �³8%-´��� DQ�
Islamist militia active in the Benghazi area.  UBJ was one of 
PDQ\� ORFDO� ³EULJDGHV´� WKDW� IRUPHG� D� FRDOLWLRQ� DJDLQVW� WKH�
Gaddafi regime in the Libyan Civil War but afterward 
continued to operate independently of the recognized successor 
government.  Testimony at trial linked UBJ to Ansar al-Sharia, 
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a notorious Al-Qaeda affiliated organization whose camp 
served as a base of operations for the Benghazi attack.1  

Khatallah was captured pursuant to a joint operation 
among multiple U.S. agencies.  The government principally 
relied on the cooperation of Ali Majrisi, a wealthy Benghazi-
based businessman who befriended Khatallah at the United 
6WDWHV¶�XUJLQJ�2  Majrisi approached Khatallah with an offer of 
ILQDQFLQJ�DQG�FRQYLQFHG�KLP�WR�JR�WR�D�SXUSRUWHG�³VDIH�KRXVH´�
on the coast.  In fact, U.S. forces were waiting to arrest 
Khatallah.  He was subdued and disarmed upon entering the 
building, and U.S. forces loaded him onto a Navy vessel for 
transport to the United States.  American officials also 
interrogated Khatallah about the attack en route.  

B 

Khatallah was indicted on 18 counts.  Count 1 was for 
³FRQVSLUDF\� WR� SURYLGH� PDWHULDO� support and resources to 
terrorists resulting in death.´� $SSHOODQW¶V�$SSHQGL[��³App.´� 
2±8; see 18 U.S.C. § 2339A.  Count 2 was for ³providing 
material support and resources to terrorists resulting in death.´  
App. 8±9; see 18 U.S.C. § 2339A.  Counts 3±15 were for the 
murders, attempted murders, and killings by fire or explosives 
of Ambassador Stevens and the three other Americans.  App. 

 
1 The parties dispute the proper way to characterize UBJ.  The 

government deVFULEHV�8%-�DV�³FRPSrised of Islamist extremists who 
refused to operate under the authority of the post-revolution 
JRYHUQPHQW� LQ� %HQJKD]L�´� Gov¶t Opening Br. 7, and there is 
testimony supporting this characterization.  Khatallah emphasizes 
that at one point UBJ was working with the United States and 
received some indirect protection from the United States.   

2 Like other witnesses, including Bilal al-Ubydi, Majrisi used a 
pseudonym for his safety and that of his family.  
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9±17.  &RXQWV����DQG����ZHUH�IRU�³PDOLFLRXVO\�GHVWUR\LQJ�DQG�
injuring dwellings and property and placing lives in jeopardy 
within the special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the 
8QLWHG�6WDWHV�DQG�DWWHPSWLQJ�WR�GR�WKH�VDPH´�LQ�YLRODWLRQ�RI����
U.S.C. § 1363.  App. 17±18; see 18 U.S.C. § 7 (defining the 
³VSHFLDO� PDULWLPH� DQG� WHUULWRULDO� MXULVGLFWLRQ� RI� WKH� 8QLWHG�
6WDWHV´���  Count 16 was for the destruction of the Mission 
buildings and property, while Count 17 was for the damage to 
the Annex.  $QG� &RXQW� ��� ZDV� IRU� ³XVLQJ�� FDUU\LQJ��
brandishing, and discharging a firearm during a crime of 
YLROHQFH´�LQ�YLRODWLRQ�RI�18 U.S.C. § 924(c).  App. 18±19. 

At trial, after presenting testimony about the nature of the 
attack and the deaths of the four Americans, the government 
presented a series of witnesses to tie Khatallah to the attack on 
the Mission.  See United States v. Khatallah �³Khatallah IV´), 
313 F. Supp. 3d 176, 182±85 (D.D.C. 2018) (summarizing the 
evidence presented at trial). 

First, the government called Khalid Abdullah, a Libyan 
army commander.  He claimed Khatallah told him he resented 
the presence of American intelligence personnel in the country 
and that he was planning to attack the consulate.  Although 
Abdullah was a part of the U.S.-friendly army, he testified that 
Khatallah warned him not to interfere with the attack and asked 
for military equipment and vehicles.  Khatallah IV, 313 F. 
Supp. 3d at 182±83. 

Second, the government called Bilal al-Ubydi, who grew 
up with Khatallah and was a local leader of the militia groups 
friendly to the United States.  Khatallah IV, 313 F. Supp. 3d at 
183.  Al-8E\GL�WHVWLILHG�WKDW�.KDWDOODK�ZDV�8%-¶V�FRPPDQGHU�
and religious leader.  While viewing surveillance footage in 
court, al-Ubydi identified several people carrying assault rifles 
during the first wave of the attack as UBJ members and close 
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associates of Khatallah.  Al-Ubydi further testified that 
Khatallah called him around 10:15 p.m. the night of the attack 
and told him²in a manner al-Ubydi perceived as hostile and 
threatening²to ³SXOO�EDFN´�D�JURXS�RI�JXDUGV�VWDWLRQHG�QHDU�
the Mission.  Trial Tr. 2533 (Oct. 18, 2017, AM).  Finally, in 
Mission surveillance footage timestamped 11:55 p.m., al-
Ubydi identified Khatallah as a figure holding an assault rifle 
and surrounded by other attackers including the local 
commander of Ansar al-Sharia.  

Third, the government called the agents who captured 
Khatallah and interrogated him on his way to the United States.  
Khatallah IV, 313 F. Supp. 3d at 184.  They testified that during 
the interrogation, Khatallah identified people from the 
surveillance footage of the Benghazi attack.  According to one 
of the agents, Khatallah also admitted to manning a roadblock 
and turning away U.S.-friendly forces, to driving to the 
compound after the attack began with a gun, and to entering a 
Mission building.   

Finally, the government called Ali Majrisi, the local 
businessman who helped capture Khatallah.  He testified that 
Khatallah knew he was suspected of involvement in the attack 
and that Khatallah expressed disappointment that more 
Americans had not been killed.  Khatallah IV, 313 F. Supp. 3d 
at 183.  Majrisi also testified that Khatallah essentially admitted 
involvement in the attack by referring to ³when we were 
DWWDFNLQJ�WKH�FRPSRXQG´�DQG�VWDWLQJ�WKDW�KH�³LQWHQGHG�WKHQ�WR�
NLOO� HYHU\ERG\´�associated with the Mission.  Trial Tr. 4995 
(Nov. 6, 2017, PM). 

The government also relied heavily on spreadsheets it 
claimed were records of .KDWDOODK¶V�SKRQH�calls.  Khatallah IV, 
313 F. Supp. 3d at 183±84.  A witness from Libyana Mobile 
Phone testified that the documents appeared to be Libyana 
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forms.  Witnesses also matched the numbers on the spreadsheet 
to phone numbers belonging to UBJ members.  The 
government used this testimony, in concert with video footage 
showing UBJ members speaking on the phone during the 
attack, to show both that the records were authentic and that 
Khatallah was in touch with UBJ members on site during the 
first wave of the attack.   

KhatallaK¶V�first main witness was a friend, Ahmed Salem, 
who claimed Khatallah was at his house the evening of the 
attack and that when Khatallah was called and told about the 
attack he was surprised to hear there was a U.S. diplomatic 
facility in Benghazi.  Khatallah IV, 313 F. Supp. 3d at 184.  His 
other main witness was Abdul Basit Igtet, who testified that 
Khatallah was eager to speak with the United States before he 
was captured.  Id.  Beyond that, because of national security 
concerns that limited the evidence he could bring, Khatallah 
had to rely on stipulations read to the jury to bolster his defense.  
³0RVW� RI� WKH� VWLSXODWLRQV� GHVFULEHG� LQIRUPDWLRQ� LQ� WKH�
JRYHUQPHQW¶V� SRVVHVVLRQ� FRQFHUQLQJ� RWKHU� SRVVLEOH�
SHUSHWUDWRUV�RI�WKH�DWWDFN�´�ZKLOH�RWKHU�VWLSXODWLRQs conveyed 
WKH� FRPSHQVDWLRQ� SURYLGHG� WR� WKH� JRYHUQPHQW¶V� FRRSHUDWLQJ�
witnesses.  Id.  A final stipulation reported that the cell phone 
UHJLVWHUHG�WR�.KDWDOODK¶V�SKRQH�QXPEHU�ZDV�LQ�KLV�KRXVH�WKUHH�
miles from the Annex during most of the attack on the Annex.  
Id. at 184±85. 

After a seven-week trial, the jury found Khatallah guilty 
on four counts.  It convicted on Counts 1 and 2 for conspiring 
to provide material support to terrorists and providing that 
support.  It convicted on Count 16 for injuring a buildiQJ��³WKDW�
LV��WKH�8�6��6SHFLDO�0LVVLRQ�´�ZLWKLQ�WKH�8�6��³VSHFLDO�PDULWLPH�
DQG� WHUULWRULDO� MXULVGLFWLRQ�´  App. 165.  And it convicted on 
Count 18 for carrying a semi-automatic weapon during a crime 
of violence.  For Counts 1 and 2, the jury made special findings 
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that Khatallah ZDV�QRW�JXLOW\�RI�FRQGXFW�³UHVXOWLQJ�LQ�GHDWK�´� 
App. 163.  And Khatallah was acquitted of Counts 3±15 and 
Count 17.  Thus, Khatallah was acquitted of all murder and 
related homicide charges and for any liability directly 
involving the Annex.  See Khatallah IV, 313 F. Supp. 3d at 186. 

During trial, Khatallah had moved for a judgment of 
acquittal after the government rested, and he renewed it after 
he presented his case.  United States v. Khatallah �³Khatallah 
VI´��� ���� )�� 6XSS�� �G� ����� ���� �'�'�&�� �������  The court 
reserved consideration of the motion and allowed the jury to 
decide.  Id.  After the jury delivered its verdict, Khatallah 
renewed his acquittal motion with respect to his conviction for 
carrying a semi-automatic firearm during a crime of violence 
(Count 18).  Id.  But the district court denied the motion on the 
ground that a conviction under Section 1363 for damaging 
SURSHUW\� QHFHVVDULO\� LQYROYHG� ³WKH� XVH�� DWWHPSWHG� XVH�� RU�
WKUHDWHQHG� XVH� RI� SK\VLFDO� IRUFH� DJDLQVW� WKH�«� SURSHUW\� RI�
DQRWKHU´� DV� UHTXLUHG� IRU� &RXQW� ���� � Id. at 213 (quoting 18 
U.S.C. § 924(c)(3)(A)).  

Before and after the jury delivered its verdict, Khatallah 
also PRYHG� IRU� D� PLVWULDO� RQ� WKH� EDVLV� RI� WKH� SURVHFXWLRQ¶V�
closing arguments.  +H�FODLPHG�WKH�SURVHFXWRU¶V�UHIHUHQFHV�WR�
PDWWHUV� RXWVLGH� WKH� UHFRUG�� KHU� GHQLJUDWLRQ� RI� WKH� GHIHQVH¶V�
stipulations, and her emotive appeals to patriotism deprived 
him of due process.  :KLOH�DJUHHLQJ�VRPH�RI�WKH�SURVHFXWRU¶V�
behavior was outside the bounds of acceptable advocacy, the 
court denied the motion on the ground that Khatallah failed to 
show he was prejudiced.  Khatallah IV, 313 F. Supp. 3d at 185±
86, 190±96. 

At sentencing, the court calculated .KDWDOODK¶V�
Guidelines-recommended sentence as life plus ten years.  
United States v. Khatallah �³Khatallah V´�������)��6XSS���G�
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179, 202±03 (D.D.C. 2018).  Nonetheless, the court varied 
downward from that calculation to impose a 22-year 
sentence²a 12-year sentence for Counts 1, 2, and 16, and a 
statutorily mandated consecutive ten-year sentence for Count 
18.  

Khatallah appealed, and the government cross-appealed 
.KDWDOODK¶V�VHQWHQFH� 

II 

At trial, the government introduced records of telephone 
calls purportedly made and received by Khatallah around the 
time of and during the attack on the Mission.  Those records 
were obtained from Libyana Mobile Phone.  Khatallah argues 
that the records were erroneously admitted into evidence 
because they were not authenticated before the jury. 
 

:H�UHYLHZ�WKH�GLVWULFW�FRXUW¶V�GHFLVLRQ�WR�DGPLW�WKH�UHFRUGV�
into evidence for an abuse of discretion.  United States v. 
Lawson, 494 F.3d 1046, 1052 (D.C. Cir. 2007). 
 

Generally speaking, documents offered to prove the truth 
of their content²here, to show that Khatallah communicated 
with certain persons at certain times²are inadmissible 
hearsay.  See FED. R. EVID. 801, 802.  %XW�³>D@�UHFRUG�RI�DQ�DFW>@�
>RU@� HYHQW´� LV� DGPLVVLEOH� QRWZLWKVWDQGLQJ� WKH� UXOH� DJDLQVW�
KHDUVD\�LI�LW�����³ZDV�PDGH�DW�RU�QHDU�WKH�WLPH by « someone 
ZLWK�NQRZOHGJH>�@´�����³ZDV�NHSW�LQ�WKH�FRXUVH�RI�D�UHJXODUO\�
FRQGXFWHG�DFWLYLW\�RI�D�EXVLQHVV�´�����ZDV�PDGH�DV�SDUW�RI�³D�
UHJXODU�SUDFWLFH�RI�WKDW�DFWLYLW\>�@´�DQG�����³WKH�RSSRQHQW´�RI�LWV�
DGPLVVLRQ�³GRHV�QRW�VKRZ�WKDW�WKH�VRXUFH�RI�LQIRUPDWLRQ or the 
method or circumstances of preparation indicate a lack of 
WUXVWZRUWKLQHVV�´��Id. ���������³>$@OO�WKHVH�FRQGLWLRQV´�PD\�EH�
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³VKRZQ�E\�« a certification that complies with « a statute 
SHUPLWWLQJ�FHUWLILFDWLRQ>�@´��Id. 803(6)(D). 

Congress has enacted a certification statute specifically to 
JRYHUQ� WKH� DGPLVVLRQ� RI� ³D� IRUHLJQ� UHFRUG� RI� UHJXODUO\�
FRQGXFWHG�DFWLYLW\�´�OLNH�WKH�WHOHSKRQH�UHFRUGV�KHUH������8�6�&��
§ �����D������ � ³,Q� D� FULPLQDO� SURFHHGLQJ>�@´� VXFK� D� UHFRUG��
³VKDOO� QRW� EH� H[FOXGHG� DV� HYLGHQFH� E\ the hearsay rule if a 
IRUHLJQ� FHUWLILFDWLRQ� DWWHVWV´� WR� FRQGLWLRQV� VLPLODU� WR� WKRVH�
specified by Federal Rule of Evidence 803(6):   That is, that the 
UHFRUG�����³ZDV�PDGH��DW�RU�QHDU�WKH�WLPH�RI�WKH�RFFXUUHQFH�RI�
the matters set forth, by « a person with knowledge of those 
PDWWHUV>�@´�����³ZDV�NHSW�LQ�WKH�FRXUVH�RI�D�UHJXODUO\�FRQGXFWHG�
EXVLQHVV� DFWLYLW\>�@´� ����ZDV�PDGH�³DV� D� UHJXODU� SUDFWLFH´�RI�
³WKH� EXVLQHVV� DFWLYLW\>�@´� DQG� ���� LV� HLWKHU� DQ� RULJLQDO� RU� ³D�
GXSOLFDWH�RI�WKH�RULJLQDO>�@´��Id. § 3505(a)(1), (a)(1)(A)±(D).     

$QRWKHU� ³FRQGLWLRQ� SUHFHGHQW� WR� DGPLVVLELOLW\´� LV�
authentication.  United States v. Rembert, 863 F.2d 1023, 1026 
(D.C. Cir. 1988) (internal quotation marks omitted).  
2UGLQDULO\�� WR� DXWKHQWLFDWH� D� SURIIHUHG� LWHP�� ³WKH� SURSRQHQW�
must produce evidence sufficient to support a finding that the 
LWHP�LV�ZKDW�WKH�SURSRQHQW�FODLPV�LW�LV�´��FED. R. EVID. 901(a).  
Under Section 3505, Congress directed that the foreign 
FHUWLILFDWLRQ�LWVHOI�³VKDOO�DXWKHQWLFDWH�VXFK�UHFRUG�RU�GXSOLFDWH´�
of the recoUG�DV�ORQJ�DV�WKH�GLVWULFW�FRXUW�ILQGV�³WUXVWZRUWK>\@´�
WKH�³VRXUFH�RI�LQIRUPDWLRQ�RU�WKH�PHWKRG�RU�FLUFXPVWDQFHV�RI�
>WKH�GRFXPHQW¶V@�SUHSDUDWLRQ�´�����8�6�&��� 3505(a)(1)±(2).     

Consistent with Section 3505, the government moved 
prior to trial for an order authenticating and admitting into 
evidence the Libyana telephone records.  The district court 
granted that motion, crediting the foreign certification of the 
Libyana records by Mohammed Ben Ayad, the Chief 
Executive Officer of Libyana.  United States v. Khatallah, 278 
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F. Supp. 3d 1, 6 (D.D.C. 2017).  Ben Ayad attested that the 
WHOHSKRQH�UHFRUGV�VDWLVILHG�6HFWLRQ�����¶V� IRXU�FRQGLWLRQV�RI�
admissibility.  S.A. 8. 

In finding that the telephone records satisfied Section 
����¶V� UHTXLUHPHQWV� IRU� DGPLVVLELOLW\� the district court 
provided that the admissibility of testimony about the records 
ZDV� ³VXEMHFW� WR� WKH� Government later establishing [the 
UHFRUGV¶@�UHOHYDQFH�DV�0U��.KDWDOODK¶V�SKRQH�UHFRUGV�´��Trial 
Tr. 2597 (Oct. 18, 2017, PM); see FED. R. EVID. 104(b).   

.KDWDOODK� GRHV� QRW� FKDOOHQJH� WKH� GLVWULFW� FRXUW¶V� SUHWULDO�
ruling deeming the records admissible under Section 3505.  
Instead, he contends that the government failed subsequently 
to authenticate the telephone records before the jury.  That 
argument fails because, by connecting the records to Khatallah 
as the district court required, the government simultaneously 
³SURGXFH>G@´� IRU� WKH� MXU\� ³HYLGHQFH� VXIILFLHQW� WR� VXSSRUW� D�
ILQGLQJ´� WKDW� WKH� UHFRUGV� ZHUH� DXWKHQWLF�� FRQVLVWHQW� ZLWK�
Federal Rule of Evidence 901(a). 

First�� ³>W@KH� DSSHDUDQFH�� FRQWHQWV�� VXEVWDQFH�� LQWHUQDO�
SDWWHUQV��>DQG@�RWKHU�GLVWLQFWLYH�FKDUDFWHULVWLFV´�RI�WKH�UHFRUGV�
supported the inference that they were genuinely Libyana 
SKRQH�UHFRUGV�GRFXPHQWLQJ�.KDWDOODK¶V�FDOOV�� �FED. R. EVID. 
901(b)(4).  The records consisted of a table with fields labeled, 
LQ� $UDELF�� ³WLPH� RI� FDOO�´� ³GXUDWLRQ� RI� FDOO�´� ³QXPEHU� of 
receiver�´� DQG� ³QXPEHU� RI� FDOOHU�´� � $SS�� ���� �UHFRUGV¶� ILUVW�
page); App. 504±06.  The table also had technical headings 
indicating the cell tower used for each call.  App. 839. 

Second, a Libyana security guard who had previously 
REWDLQHG�LQIRUPDWLRQ�IURP�/LE\DQD¶V�FRPSXWHU�V\VWHP�IRU�WKH�
)%,� WHVWLILHG� WKDW� WKH� UHFRUGV�ZHUH� LQ� WKH�³>V@DPH�IRUPDW´�DV�
Libyana call records he had seen.  Trial Tr. 4808 (Nov. 2, 2017, 
PM); id. at 4815.  He observed that the phone number attributed 
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to Khatallah began with the number 92, a Libyana prefix, and 
WKDW�³DOO�WKH�QXPEHUV´�ZHUH�SUHFHGHG�E\�/LE\D¶V�FRXQWU\�FRGH��
218.  Id. at 4808±09.  The records also contained a colorized 
page that, according to the guard, bore the same purple hue as 
other Libyana records.  Id. at 4812.  This purple coloring was 
consistent with photographs taken of Libyana subscriber 
records.  S.A. 116±21.  The guard confirmed that the records 
werH�³IRU�VXUH´�/LE\DQD�UHFRUGV���7ULDO�7U��������1RY�����������
AM). 

Third, Ali Majrisi, the Benghazi businessman recruited by 
the United States to help apprehend Khatallah, testified that the 
VXEVFULEHU�LQGLFDWHG�LQ�WKH�UHFRUGV�ZDV�.KDWDOODK¶V�EURWKHU�DQG�
thDW� WKH� DGGUHVV� OLVWHG� ZDV� .KDWDOODK¶V�� � 7ULDO� 7U�� ����±80 
(Nov. 6, 2017, PM).  Additionally, multiple witnesses testified 
that phone numbers in the spreadsheet belonged to associates 
of Khatallah.  See, e.g., Trial Tr. 2608 (Oct. 18, 2017, PM); 
Trial Tr. 3887 (Oct. 30, 2017, AM); Trial Tr. 4810±11 (Nov. 2, 
2017, PM); id. at 4812. 

Fourth, witness testimony corroborated that certain calls 
documented in the records actually were made by or to 
Khatallah.  Special Agent Michael Clarke testified that 
.KDWDOODK�WROG�KLP�KH�³PD\�KDYH´�FDOOHG�6DODK�DO-Amari after 
receiving a call from Jamaica²both UBJ members²between 
8:30 and 9:00 p.m. on the evening of the attack.  Trial Tr. 3874 
(Oct. 30, 2017, AM); see id. at 3867.  The records indicate a 
call from Khatallah to al-Amari at 8:39 p.m.  Id. at 3878±79; 
App. 868.  Similarly, Bilal al-Ubydi testified that Khatallah 
called him around 10:15 p.m. that same evening.  Trial Tr. 
2531±33 (Oct. 18, 2017, AM).  A call from Khatallah to al-
Ubydi at 10:20 p.m. appears in the records.  Trial Tr. 2609±10 
(Oct. 18, 2017, PM); App. 868. 
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Khatallah objects that there were many reasons for a jury 
WR� GLVFUHGLW� WKH� JRYHUQPHQW¶V� DXWKHQWLFDWLQJ� HYLGHQFH�� � )RU�
H[DPSOH�� KH� DUJXHV� WKDW� ZKLOH� WKH� UHFRUGV¶� ³KHDGLQJV� DUH 
consistent with what one might expect to see on genuine and 
accurate foreign call records, they hardly help to prove that the 
VSUHDGVKHHW� DFWXDOO\� FRPSULVHG� VXFK� UHFRUGV�´� � .KDWDOODK�
Reply Br. 8 (emphasis in original).  He also notes that while 
Agent Clarke reported that al-Ubydi told him that he and 
.KDWDOODK� VSRNH� IRU� ³RYHU� WHQ�PLQXWHV´� RQ� WKH� QLJKW� RI� WKH�
attack, the corresponding entry in the records indicates the call 
lasted just 36 seconds.  Khatallah Opening Br. 15; compare 
Trial Tr. 5584±85 (Nov. 13, 2017, PM), with App. 868. 

To be sure, Khatallah had grounds for challenging the 
JRYHUQPHQW¶V�VKRZLQJ�DQG�DUJXLQJ�WR�WKH�MXU\�WKDW�WKH\�VKRXOG�
not credit the telephone records²and he did so.  See, e.g., Trial 
Tr. 6093 (Nov. 16, 2017, PM) (defense counsel arguing in 
FORVLQJ� WKDW� ³WKHUH¶V� DEVROXWHO\� QR>@� IRXQGDWLRQ� IRU� \RX� WR�
believe that « what they keep calling phone records are, in 
IDFW��SKRQH�UHFRUGV´����%XW�LQ�GHFLGLQJ�WKH�WHOHSKRQH�UHFRUGV¶�
admissibility, the question is not whether the government 
conclusively proved their authenticity.  It is only whether the 
JRYHUQPHQW¶V�VKRZLQJ�³SHUPLW>WHG@�D�UHDVRQDEOH�MXURU�WR�ILQG�
WKDW�WKH�HYLGHQFH�LV�ZKDW�LWV�SURSRQHQW�FODLPV�´��United States 
v. Blackwell, 694 F.2d 1325, 1330 (D.C. Cir. 1982) (citation 
omitted).  7KH� JRYHUQPHQW¶V� HYLGHQWLDU\� VKRZLQJ� ZDV�
VXIILFLHQW�WR�WKDW�WDVN���$QG�ZLWK�5XOH����¶V�UHTXLUHPHQWV�PHW��
.KDWDOODK¶V�DUJXPHQWV�³JR�to the weight of the evidence²not 
to its admissibility�´��United States v. Tin Yat Chin, 371 F.3d 
31, 38 (2d Cir. 2004) (emphases in original); see also United 
States v. Mitchell, 816 F.3d 865, 871±72 (D.C. Cir. 2016); 31 
CHARLES ALAN WRIGHT & ARTHUR R. MILLER, FEDERAL 
PRACTICE & PROCEDURE EVIDENCE § 7104 (2d ed. April 2022 
XSGDWH�� �³>7@KH� MXU\� UHWDLQV� WKH� SRZHU� WR� GHWHUPLQH� ZKDW�
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weight to give evidence in light of any questions concerning its 
DXWKHQWLFLW\�´��3 

III 

Khatallah challenges his conviction on Count 16 for 
³PDOLFLRXVO\�GHVWUR\LQJ�DQG� LQMXULQJ�GZHllings and property, 
that is the U.S. Special Mission, and placing lives in jeopardy 
within the special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the 
8QLWHG�6WDWHV�DQG�DWWHPSWLQJ�WR�GR�WKH�VDPH�´� App. 165.  He 
maintains that the evidence was legally insufficient to 
demonstrate that his actions fell within the special maritime 
and territorial jurisdiction of the United States �³the special 
MXULVGLFWLRQ´� or alternatively that the conviction should be 
vacated because the jury was wrongly instructed regarding this 
jurisdictional element.  We decline to set aside this conviction 
on either ground. 

A 

Khatallah was convicted under 18 U.S.C. § 1363, which 
criminalizes the malicious destruction of buildings and 
property ³within the special maritime and territorial 
jurisdiction of the United States.´  18 U.S.C. § 1363.4  The jury 

 
3 Because the government introduced sufficient evidence to 

permit a rational jury to conclude that the records were authentic, we 
QHHG�QRW�GHFLGH�ZKHWKHU� WKH�GLVWULFW�FRXUW¶V� SUHWULDO�DXWKHQWLFDWLRQ�
ruling under 18 U.S.C. § 3505 made authentication before the jury 
unnecessary.  See *RY¶W�Opening Br. 22±29.  

4 Section 1363 provides in full that�� ³[w]hoever, within the 
special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States, 
willfully and maliciously destroys or injures any structure, 
conveyance, or other real or personal property, or attempts or 
conspires to do such an act, shall be fined under this title or 
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also convicted him of the DJJUDYDWLQJ�IDFWRU�WKDW�DSSOLHV�³LI�WKH�
building be a dwelling, or the life of any person be placed in 
MHRSDUG\�´� Id.; see App. 165.  

7R� EULQJ� .KDWDOODK¶V� RIIHQVH� ZLWKLQ� WKH� VSHFLDO�
jurisdiction, the government relied only on the diplomatic 
premises definition of the special jurisdiction.  18 U.S.C. 
§ 7(9).  This definition applies to ³RIIHQVHV�FRPPLWWHG�E\�RU�
DJDLQVW�D�QDWLRQDO�RI�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV´�RQ�WKH�SUHPLVHV�RI�8�6��
diplomatic facilities aEURDG�� LQFOXGLQJ� ³8QLWHG� 6WDWHV�
*RYHUQPHQW� 0LVVLRQV� «� LQ� IRUHLJQ� 6WDWHV�´�  Id. § 7(9), 
7(9)(A).  The government maintains that this definition applies 
EHFDXVH�WKH�GHVWUXFWLRQ�RI�SURSHUW\�ZDV�³FRPPLWWHG�«�DJDLQVW�
D�QDWLRQDO�RI�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV´�RQ�WKH�SUHPises of the Mission.  
Khatallah argues he is entitled to acquittal on Count 16 because 
there was legally insufficient evidence that his actions satisfied 
WKH�GLSORPDWLF�SUHPLVHV�GHILQLWLRQ�RI�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV¶�VSHFLDO�
jurisdiction.  

.KDWDOODK¶V� FKDOOHQJH� ³IDFHV� D� KLJK� WKUHVKROG�´  United 
States v. Tucker, 12 F.4th 804, 826 (D.C. Cir. 2021) (per 
curiam) (cleaned up).  TKH�TXHVWLRQ�LV�³ZKHWKHU��DIWHU�YLHZLQJ�
the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any 
rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of 
WKH� FULPH� EH\RQG� D� UHDVRQDEOH� GRXEW�´  Id. (cleaned up).  
Because the question is ZKDW�³any UDWLRQDO�WULHU�RI�IDFW´�FRXOG�
have found, RXU�GHWHUPLQDWLRQ�³GRHV�QRW�UHVW�RQ�KRZ�WKH�MXU\�
ZDV� LQVWUXFWHG�´  Musacchio v. United States, 577 U.S. 237, 
243 (2016).  

 
imprisoned not more than five years, or both, and if the building be 
a dwelling, or the life of any person be placed in jeopardy, shall be 
fined under this title or imprisoned not more than twenty years, or 
both.´ 
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To meet this high bar, Khatallah makes a purely legal 
argument that no Section 1363 conviction can rest on the 
diplomatic premises definition of the special jurisdiction 
regardless of the evidence in the case because of the 
intersecting elements of that definition and Section 1363. 

The diplomatic premises definition of the special 
jurisdiction has two parts as relevant here: (1) the crime has to 
take place on the premises of a diplomatic or military facility, 
and (2) LW� KDV� WR�EH� DQ� ³RIIHQVH>@� FRPPLWWHG�E\�RU� DJDLQVW� D�
QDWLRQDO� RI� WKH� 8QLWHG� 6WDWHV�´�  18 U.S.C. § 7(9)(A), 7(9).  
Khatallah does not dispute that the attack occurred at a 
diplomatic mission, but he argues a violation of Section 1363 
FDQ�QHYHU�EH�DQ�RIIHQVH�FRPPLWWHG�³DJDLQVW�D�QDWLRQDO�RI�WKH�
United States�´  He invokes the traditional distinction between 
crimes against the person and crimes against property.  Cf. 
Borden v. United States, 141 S. Ct. 1817, 1839±40 (2021) 
(Kavanaugh, J., dissenting).  Section 1363, he says, is 
³HVVHQWLDOO\�D�SURSHUW\�FULPH´�EHFDXVH�LW�UHTXLUHV�WKH�³ZLOOIXO>@�
DQG� PDOLFLRXV>@� GHVWUXFWLRQ´� of a structure or property. 18 
U.S.C. § 1363.  The destruction of property cannot be a crime 
³DJDLQVW´� DQ� $PHULFDQ� QDWLRQDO� RU� DQ\� SHUVRQ�� .KDWDOODK�
insists, regardless of the circumstances or effects of the crime.  
Because Section 1363 is never a crime against an American 
person, Khatallah argues its special jurisdiction element can 
never be satisfied by the diplomatic premises definition, which 
applies only to offenses against persons, namely U.S. 
nationals.5  Therefore, because the jurisdictional element of 

 
5 This is not the first time Khatallah has made this argument: the 

district court rejected it in an opinion denying a motion to dismiss 
that count of the indictment before trial.  United States v. Khatallah, 
168 F. Supp. 3d 210, 213±15 (D.D.C. 2016). 
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Count 16 cannot be satisfied by the charged category of special 
jurisdiction, Khatallah claims he is entitled to an acquittal. 

Section 1363 does not just define a property crime.  Some 
violations of Section 1363 may be exclusively property crimes.  
See, e.g., United States v. Grady, 18 F.4th 1275, 1281±83 (11th 
Cir. 2021) (affirming a conviction under Section 1363 for a 
peaceful protest that involved spray painting naval facilities).  
But Section 1363 also creates an enhanced offense that can be 
committed by destroying property in a way that places a life in 
jeopardy.  18 U.S.C. § 1363 (enhancing the maximum penalty 
³LI�«�WKH� OLIH�RI�DQ\�SHUVRQ�EH�SODFHG� LQ� MHRSDUG\´���  These 
violations of Section 1363 are not just property crimes.  When 
placing a person in jeopardy is an element of the offense, that 
offense is committed against the person threatened.6  We thus 
agree with the district court that when an American life is the 
one placed in jeopardy as required for the statutory 
enhancement, the malicious destruction of property in violation 
of Section �����LV�DQ�³RIIHQVH�FRPPLWWHG�«�against a national 
RI� WKH� 8QLWHG� 6WDWHV´� DQG� FDQ� RFFXU� ZLWKLQ� the special 
jurisdiction¶V diplomatic premises definition.  See United 
States v. Khatallah, 168 F. Supp. 3d 210, 213 (D.D.C. 2016).   

%HFDXVH� .KDWDOODK¶V� SXUHO\� OHJDO� DUJXPHQW� FDQQRW�
succeed, there is no basis for a judgment of acquittal on appeal.  
On the facts here, a rational trier of fact could have found 
beyond a reasonable doubt that Khatallah violated 
Section ����� LQ� D� ZD\� WKDW� SODFHG� DQ� $PHULFDQ¶V� OLIH� LQ�

 
6 Because it is sufficient that placing an American life in 

jeopardy is an offense committed against an American, we need not 
address whether someone can violate Section 1363 within the special 
MXULVGLFWLRQ� E\� LQMXULQJ� DQ� $PHULFDQ¶V� GZHOOLQJ��  See 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1363 �HQKDQFLQJ� WKH� PD[LPXP� SHUPLVVLEOH� VHQWHQFH� ³LI� WKH�
EXLOGLQJ�EH�D�GZHOOLQJ´��� 
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jeopardy.  .KDWDOODK¶V� FR-conspirators perpetrated a violent 
attack on Americans while damaging U.S. property, so a 
rational jury could have convicted Khatallah as vicariously 
liable for their actions���³[A] conspirator can be found guilty of 
a substantive offense based upon acts of his coconspirator so 
long as the act was done in furtherance of the conspiracy, was 
within the scope of the unlawful project, and could be 
reasonably foreseen as a necessary or natural consequence of 
WKH�XQODZIXO�DJUHHPHQW�´�  United States v. Sampol, 636 F.2d 
621, 676 (D.C. Cir. 1980) (per curiam) (citing Pinkerton v. 
United States, 328 U.S. 640 (1946)).  

Here videos showed that UBJ members Aymen al-Dijawi, 
Jamaica, and Zakaria Barghathi ³VWRUPHG�D�VHFXUH�JRYHUQPHQW�
compound with guns, entered Mission buildings while armed, 
DQG� VSUHDG� JDVROLQH� RQ� YHKLFOHV� ORFDWHG� DW� WKH�0LVVLRQ�´� DOO�
while Americans were still present.  See Khatallah V, 314 F. 
Supp. 3d at 196.  The video provides ample evidence that UBJ 
members were placing American lives in jeopardy while 
damaging the Mission.  In light of the testimony that Khatallah 
ZDV� 8%-¶V� OHDGHU�� WKH� SKRQH� UHFRUGV� SXUSRUWLQJ� WR� VKRZ�
Khatallah communicating with UBJ members during the 
attack, and the fact that Khatallah showed up armed later on the 
same night, a reasonable juror could have found those armed 
8%-� PHPEHUV� SUHVHQW� WR� EH� .KDWDOODK¶V� FR-conspirators.  
Finally, the conspiracy was to destroy the Mission, so the 
assault on the Mission was clearly in furtherance of the 
conspiracy.  Given that the Mission was heavily guarded, the 
8%-� PHPEHUV¶� YLROHQW� DFWLRQV� against Americans were a 
reasonably foreseeable consequence of the conspiracy.  A 
rational jury had plenty of evidence to find beyond a reasonable 
doubt that Khatallah violated Section 1363 within the 
diplomatic premises definition of the special jurisdiction. 



20 

 

Khatallah makes three arguments to resist this conclusion, 
but none is persuasive. 

First, he argues that even if violating the enhanced version 
of Section 1363 by placing a life in jeopardy is an offense 
DJDLQVW�D�SHUVRQ��WKDW�LV�³LUUHOHYDQW´�EHFDXVH�WKH�MXU\�ZDV�QRW�
told that this was the only path for conviction.  Khatallah Reply 
Br. 29.  But motions for an acquittal based on insufficient 
evidence cannot depend on jury instructions.  See Musacchio, 
577 U.S. at 243; see also Griffin v. United States, 502 U.S. 46, 
49 (1991) (explaining the pre-Revolutionary common law 
SULQFLSOH�WKDW�³D�«�YHUGLFW�ZDV�YDOLG�VR�ORQJ�DV�LW�ZDV�OHJally 
supportable on one of the submitted grounds²even though that 
gave no assurance that a valid ground, rather than an invalid 
RQH��ZDV�DFWXDOO\�WKH�EDVLV�IRU�WKH�MXU\¶V�DFWLRQ´��  As such, it 
GRHV� QRW� PDWWHU� IRU� .KDWDOODK¶V� VXIILFLHQF\� RI� WKH� HYLGHQFH�
challenge if the jury was provided with an erroneous path to a 
guilty verdict via the dwelling enhancement as long as a 
properly instructed jury had enough evidence for conviction.  

.KDWDOODK¶V� VHFRQG� DUJXPHQW� LV� WKDW� ZH� VKRXOG� DSSO\� D�
categorical approach to the diplomatic premises definition.  He 
DUJXHV� XQOHVV� WKH� ³RIIHQVH´� LQ� WKH� GLSORPDWLF� SUHPLVHV�
definition has, as an essential element, that the crime be 
committed against an American, that definition of the special 
jurisdiction cannot apply.  

We GLVDJUHH�� ZKHWKHU� DQ� RIIHQVH� LV� ³FRPPLWWHG� E\� RU�
DJDLQVW�D�QDWLRQDO�RI� WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV´� LV�GHWHUPLQHG�E\� WKH�
IDFWV� RI� WKH� FKDUJHG� RIIHQVH�� QRW� E\� WKH� RIIHQVH¶V� OHJDO�
elements.  The diplomatic premises definition applies to 
³RIIHQVHV� FRPPLWWHG� E\� RU� DJDLQst a national of the United 
6WDWHV´�WKDW�WDNH�SODFH�RQ�8�6��GLSORPDWLF�SUHPLVHV�� 18 U.S.C. 
§ 7(9).  7KH� WHUP� ³RIIHQVH´� LV� DPELJXRXV�� LW� FDQ� UHIHU� WR� ³D�
generic crime, say, WKH�FULPH�RI�IUDXG�RU�WKHIW�LQ�JHQHUDO�´�EXW�
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LW� FDQ� DOVR� ³UHIHU� WR� WKH� VSHFLILF� DFWs in which an offender 
engaged on a specific occasion, say, the fraud that the 
GHIHQGDQW� SODQQHG� DQG� H[HFXWHG�´�  Nijhawan v. Holder, 557 
U.S. 29, 33±34 (2009).  Despite .KDWDOODK¶V� DUJXPHQWV�� ZH�
KDYH�OLWWOH�WURXEOH�FRQFOXGLQJ�WKDW�³RIIHQVH´�LQ�WKH�GLSORPDWic 
premises definition is circumstance specific, not categorical.  

,Q�WKLV�FDVH��QRQH�RI�WKH�³WKUHH�EDVLF�UHDVRQV�IRU�DGKHULQJ�
to an elements-RQO\� LQTXLU\´� DUH� SUHVHQW�� �Mathis v. United 
States, 579 U.S. 500, 510 (2016).  Applying the factors in 
Mathis, it would be inappropriate to apply a categorical 
DSSURDFK� WR� WKH� SKUDVH� ³RIIHQVHs committed by or against a 
national of the United States�´� First, reference to the offense 
³FRPPLtted´�GRHV�QRW�VXJJHVW�D�FDWHJRULFDO�DSSURDFK��instead, 
it suggests the facts are what matter.  See id. at 511 (citing 
United States v. Hayes, 555 U.S. 415, 421 (2009) (interpreting 
³RIIHQVH « FRPPLWWHG´� LQ� D� FLUFXPVWDQFH-specific way)).  
Courts typically apply the categorical approach when the 
VWDWXWH� GHSHQGV� RQ� ³FRQYLFWLRQV´� RU� H[Slicitly relies on the 
³HOHPHQWV´� RI� D� FULPH�� QRW� ZKHQ� LW� UHIHUV� WR� what was 
³committed�´��See, e.g., id. (applying the categorical approach 
in part because the Armed Career Criminal Act (ACCA) refers 
WR� ³FRQYLFWLRQV´� IRU� YLROHQW� IHORQLHV���  Second, the Sixth 
Amendment right to a trial by jury is not implicated because 
the diplomatic premises definition asks about the facts of the 
offense for which the defendant is being tried at the moment, 
not a past offense such as a conviction for a violent felony that 
serves to aggravate a sentence in the ACCA context.  Id. at 
511±12.  And for the same reason²there is no prior litigation 
involved²there is no question of relying on facts that were 
found without adversarial process.  Id. at 512.  We thus 
conclude that a categorical approach is inappropriate to 
interpret the diplomatic premises definition of the special 
jurisdiction. 
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.KDWDOODK¶V�WKLUG�DUJXPHQW�LV�WKDW�WKH�GLSORPDWLF�SUHPLVHV�
definition can never apply to Section 1363 because that 
VWDWXWH¶V�³IRFXV�«�LV�RQ�WKH�SURSHUW\�´�DV�HYLGHQFHG�E\�WKH�IDFW�
WKDW� WKH� GHIHQGDQW� PXVW� ³ZLOOIXOO\� DQG� PDOLFLRXVO\´� GHVWUR\�
SURSHUW\�EXW�GRHV�QRW�KDYH�WR�³ZLOOIXOO\�DQG�PDOLFLRXVO\´�SODFH�
a life in jeopardy.  Khatallah Reply Br. 29±30; see 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1363.  We reject this argument as well.  The special 
jurisdiction definition does not apply only WR�RIIHQVHV�WKDW�³DUH�
primarily committed against a national of the United States´�RU�
that have a ³IRFXV�RQ�KDUPLQJ�$PHULFDQ�SHUVRQV�´�VR�ZH�IDLO�
WR� VHH� WKH� VLJQLILFDQFH� RI� WKH� VWDWXWH¶V� ³IRFXV´� ZKHQ�
determining whether there was sufficient evidence that 
.KDWDOODK¶V�FULPH�RFFXUUHG�ZLWKLQ�WKH�VSHFLDO�MXULVGLFWLRQ� 

In sum, the jury had ample evidence to find beyond a 
reasonable doubt that Khatallah was vicariously liable for 
placing American lives in jeopardy on the premises of an 
overseas diplomatic mission, so it could have found, and 
UHDVRQDEO\� GLG� ILQG�� 6HFWLRQ� ����¶V� MXULVGLFWLRQDO� HOHPHQW�
satisfied. 

B 

In the alternative, Khatallah argues he is entitled to a new 
trial because the jury was not properly instructed about Count 
��¶V�MXULVGLFWLRQDO�HOHPHQW�DQd would have acquitted him if it 
had been.   

Khatallah did not object to the jury instructions, so he must 
at least meet the requirements of plain error review.7  See FED. 

 
7 Because Khatallah jointly proposed the jury instructions with 

the government, the government argues that any instructional error 
was invited by Khatallah and he is ³EDUUHG�IURP�FRPSODLQLQJ�DERXW�
LW� RQ� DSSHDO�´� � *RY¶W� Opening Br. 52 (quoting United States v. 
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R. CRIM. P. 52(b); United States v. Purvis, 706 F.3d 520, 522 
(D.C. Cir. 2013) (courts review unobjected-to jury instructions 
for plain error).  ³Under that standard,´ we grant a new trial 
RQO\�LI�WKHUH�ZDV�³����HUURU������WKDW�LV�SODLQ��DQG�����WKDW�DIIHFWV�
VXEVWDQWLDO�ULJKWV�«�>DQG@�if (4) the error seriously affects the 
fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial 
SURFHHGLQJV�´� �Id. (cleaned up).  ³Meeting all four prongs of 
SODLQ� HUURU� LV� GLIILFXOW�� DV� LW� VKRXOG� EH�´� � Puckett v. United 
States, 556 U.S. 129, 135 (2009) (cleaned up).   

In its jury instructions for Count 16, the district court 
properly explained the substantive conduct required to violate 
Section 1363.  It also explained that because Khatallah was 
charged with the enhanced version of the crime, the jury had to 
find beyond D� UHDVRQDEOH� GRXEW� WKDW� ³WKH� EXLOGLQJ� ZDV� D�
GZHOOLQJ� RU� WKH� OLIH� RI� DQ\� SHUVRQ�ZDV� SODFHG� LQ� MHRSDUG\�´��
Trial Tr. 5897 (Nov. 15, 2017, PM).  $V�WR�WKDW�VWDWXWH¶V�VSHFLDO�
jurisdiction element, the court listed the various facilities that 
are covered by the diplomatic premises definition while 
omitting the preface that the crime in question must be 
FRPPLWWHG�³E\�RU�DJDLQVW�D�QDWLRQDO�RI�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�´��Id.; 
see 18 U.S.C. § 7(9).  

This omission was erroneous, as the government concedes.  
Violations of Section �����FDQ�RFFXU�RQO\�³ZLWKLQ�WKH�VSHFLDO�
PDULWLPH�DQG� WHUULWRULDO� MXULVGLFWLRQ�RI� WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�´� VR�
the government had to prove, and the jury had to find beyond a 
reasonable doubt, that the damage to the Mission occurred 
within that special jurisdiction.  United States v. Gaudin, 515 
8�6�� ����� ���� ������� �³7KH� &RQVWLWXWLRQ� JLYHV� D� FULPLQDO�

 
Harrison, 103 F.3d 986, 992 (D.C. Cir. 1997)).  We hold that 
.KDWDOODK¶V�Fhallenge fails even under the plain-error standard, and 
therefore do not reach the quesWLRQ�ZKHWKHU�.KDWDOODK¶V�FKDOOHQJH�LV�
barred by the invited error doctrine.  
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defendant the right to demand that a jury find him guilty of all 
WKH�HOHPHQWV�RI�WKH�FULPH�ZLWK�ZKLFK�KH�LV�FKDUJHG�´���  Here, 
the government asserted only the diplomatic premises 
definition of the special jurisdiction as its jurisdictional hook.  
The jury, however, was not instructed that this definition 
UHTXLUHG�WKH�RIIHQVHV�EH�³FRPPLWWHG�E\�RU�DJDLQVW�D�QDWLRQDO�RI�
WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�´� ����8�6�C. § 7(9).  The instructions were 
therefore erroneous: they omitted a factual element that the jury 
had to find in order to convict Khatallah of violating 
Section 1363.  Moreover, although we need not decide the 
issue, we assume for the purpose of this appeal that the error 
was plain. 

)RU� WKH� WKLUG� SURQJ� RI� SODLQ� HUURU�� WKH� HUURU¶V� HIIHFW� RQ�
VXEVWDQWLDO� ULJKWV�� .KDWDOODK� KDV� WR� VKRZ� ³D� UHDVRQDEOH�
probability that, but for the error claimed, the outcome of the 
SURFHHGLQJ�ZRXOG�KDYH�EHHQ�GLIIHUHQW�´��Greer v. United States, 
141 S. Ct. 2090, 2096 (2021) (cleaned up).  The error affected 
.KDWDOODK¶V� VXEVWDQWLDO� ULJKWV� RQO\� LI� WKHUH� LV� D� ³UHDVRQDEOH�
SUREDELOLW\´ that the jury would have acquitted him of Count 
16 if properly instructed.  Id.  .KDWDOODK¶V�DUJXPHQWV fall short.  

.KDWDOODK¶V� DUJXPHQW� IRU� SUHMXGLFH� ERLOV� GRZQ� WR� DQ�
implicit jury finding he claims is ³>t]he only sensible way to 
XQGHUVWDQG� WKH� MXU\¶V� YHUGLFWV�´  Khatallah Opening Br. 49.  
Khatallah points out that the jury acquitted him of all the counts 
in the indictment charging him with the deaths in the Mission.  
Those acquittals, he claims, are inconsistent with finding him 
responsible for the first wave of the attack on the Mission.  
After all, if the jury thought he was responsible as a co-
conspirator for what happened at that time, it would have found 
that he was liable under Pinkerton for the deaths in the Villa 
that resulted from the fire started in the first wave.  Therefore, 
Khatallah asserts, the jury implicitly found that he was 
responsible only for what happened during the second wave of 
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the attack on the Mission, after the Americans had evacuated.8  
He claims that if the jury had been properly instructed that it 
could convict on Count 16 only if Khatallah committed a crime 
³DJDLQVW�D�QDWLRQDO�RI�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�´�WKH�MXU\�likely would 
have acquitted him.  

In addition, Khatallah maintains the MXU\¶V� FRQYLFWLRQ�
under Count 16 can be explained by the jury¶V finding that he 
injured a dwelling.  The jury was instructed that it could apply 
the Section 1363 enhancement if a life was placed in jeopardy 
or if the building damaged was a dwelling.  During the second 
wave of the attack on the Mission, Khatallah was caught on 
camera while the Tactical Operations Center was ransacked, 
and testimony at trial suggested that the Tactical Operations 
Center was a dwelling.  There were no American lives to place 
in jeopardy at that point in the attack.  Khatallah reasons that 
the jury must have convicted him on Count 16 because of the 
dwelling enhancement, because the jury was not instructed that 
the offense had to be committed against a national of the United 
States.  Destruction of a dwelling satisfies the statutory 
enhancement in Section 1363, but Khatallah says it does not 
come within the special jurisdiction under the diplomatic 
premises definition.  Therefore, Khatallah posits, if the jury had 
been properly instructed that it must find an American life was 
in jeopardy, it would have likely acquitted him.9  

 
8 The jury also acquitted Khatallah of Count 17, which was for 

³GHVWUR\LQJ�DQG�LQMXULQJ�GZHOOLQJV�DQG�SURSHUW\��WKDW�LV, WKH�$QQH[�´�
so we assume that he correctly reads the verdicts to at least rule out 
his criminal responsibility for what happened after the second wave 
of the attack.  App. 165.  

9 1RU� LV� WKH�JRYHUQPHQW�DUJXLQJ� LQ� WKLV� FDVH� WKDW�.KDWDOODK¶V�
conviction could survive if the jury only convicted under the 
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.KDWDOODK¶V�WKHRU\�RI�DQ�LPSOLFLW�jury finding is not wholly 
implausible, but he has fallen short of demonstrating a 
³UHDVRQDEOH�SUREDELOLW\´�WKDt a properly instructed jury would 
have acquitted him.  Greer, 141 S. Ct. at 2096.  There was 
RYHUZKHOPLQJ� HYLGHQFH� WKDW� .KDWDOODK¶V� FR-conspirators 
attacked the Mission while Americans were present, but there 
is a much weaker link between Khatallah and the deaths at the 
Villa.  So it was eminently sensible for the jury to find both that 
Khatallah was responsible for endangering American lives and 
that there was reasonable doubt that he was responsible for any 
deaths.  See Khatallah V, 314 F. Supp. 3d at 189. 

The jury could have found that Khatallah was vicariously 
responsible for the first wave of the attack on the Mission 
where American lives were in danger but was not responsible 
for either the deaths that resulted from the first wave or the 
subsequent attack on the Annex.  There was substantially more 
evidence linking Khatallah to the first wave of the attack in 
general²when American lives were placed in jeopardy²than 
there was connecting him to the specific fires that caused the 
deaths at the Mission.  The Libyana phone records²discussed 
above and which a reasonable jury, we hold, could have found 
to be authentic²showed that Khatallah was in frequent 
communication with specific UBJ militants during the first 
wave of the attack, but neither they nor the surveillance footage 
show who set the Villa on fire.  Khatallah IV, 313 F. Supp. 3d 
at 183±84.  :H�DJUHH�ZLWK�WKH�GLVWULFW�FRXUW�WKDW�³>W@KH�MXU\�PD\�
KDYH�«�EHOLHYHG�WKDW�WKH�ILUHV�ZHUH�VHW�E\�RWKHU�PLOLWDQWV�RQ�
the scene²of which, according to evidence introduced at trial, 
WKHUH�ZHUH�GR]HQV�´  Khatallah V, 314 F. Supp. 3d at 189.  

 
³GZHOOLQJ´� Hnhancement of Section 1363, an issue we need not 
decide.  See supra note 6. 



27 

 

While the government argued that all those who attacked 
were .KDWDOODK¶V�co-conspirators, they did little to support this 
assertion.  Khatallah was not a member of any of the other 
militias, and the government did not point to any phone records 
indicating coordination with other attackers.  Khatallah IV, 313 
F. Supp. 3d at 183±84.  The government argued at closing that 
Khatallah spoke with commanders of other militias at the 
Mission, but even if the jury believed that, it does not show that 
Khatallah was party to an affirmative agreement with any other 
militia, let alone whichever militia members killed 
Ambassador Stevens and Sean Smith.  Thus, there was ample 
room for rHDVRQDEOH�GRXEW�DERXW�.KDWDOODK¶V�YLFDULRXV�OLDELOLW\�
for the deaths in the Mission.  A reasonable juror could acquit 
for these deaths, but still find that Khatallah was liable for 
SODFLQJ� $PHULFDQV¶� OLYHV� LQ� MHRSDUG\�10  In fact, given the 
VWUHQJWK� RI� WKH� HYLGHQFH� IRU� .KDWDOODK¶V� FRQVSLUDWRULDO�
involvement in the first wave of the attack, that is the best 
explanation of the verdicts.  There was therefore no reasonable 
probability the jury would have acquitted Khatallah on Count 
16 if properly instructed. 

)LQDOO\�� ZH� QRWH� WKDW� .KDWDOODK¶V� interpretation of the 
MXU\¶V�YHUGLFWV�LV�GLIILFXOW�WR�UHFRQFLOH�ZLWK�WKH�HYLGHQFH�� For 
the jury to have implicitly found that Khatallah was not 
responsible for the first wave of attacks, it would have had to 
believe that Khatallah²who was portrayed by multiple 
ZLWQHVVHV� DV� 8%-¶V� OHDGHU²was totally uninvolved in his 
VXERUGLQDWHV¶ plan to launch a terrorist attack even though he 
joined it halfway through, armed with an AK-47.  The jury also 

 
10 There was also plenty of evidence that UBJ members 

damaged U.S. property even if they had nothing to do with burning 
down the Villa.  For example, one UBJ member and close associate 
RI�.KDWDOODK¶V�ZDV�identified on video pouring gasoline on a Mission 
vehicle to light it on fire.  
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would have had to discount the telephone records and al-
8E\GL¶V� WHVWLPRQ\, which the court found credible.  Finally, 
.KDWDOODK¶V� WKHRU\� ZDV� QRW� SUHVHQWHG� WR� WKH� MXU\� DQG� ZDV�
inconsistent with the defense offered.  TKH�GHIHQVH¶V�SULPDU\�
argument was that Khatallah showed up knowing nothing of 
WKH�DWWDFN�DQG�ZHQW�WR�WKH�0LVVLRQ�MXVW�WR�³VHH�ZKDW�ZDV�JRLQJ�
on,´ not that he joined the conspiracy when he arrived.  Trial 
Tr. 6133±34 (Nov. 16, 2017, PM).  7KH� MXU\¶V� FRQYLFWLRQV�
indicate it did not accept the defensH¶V�DFFRXQW� 

Khatallah has not demonstrated it is reasonably probable 
that this jury would have acquitted him if it had been properly 
instructed as to Count 16.  See Greer, 141 S. Ct. at 2096.  
Finding the instructional error did not affect his ³VXEVWDQWLDO�
ULJKWV�´�ZH�GHFOLQH�WR�YDFDWH�KLV�FRQYLFWLRQ�11 

IV 

Khatallah challenges his conviction on Count 18 for using 
a firearm during and in relation to a crime of violence, in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 924(c).  He claims that his Section 
1363 conviction does not qualify as a predicate crime of 
violence and that the district court therefore should have 
granted his motion for an acquittal on Count 18.  Alternatively, 
he claims his conviction on Count 18 should be vacated 
because the district court wrongly instructed the jury that 
violating Section 1363 was a crime of violence.12 

 
11 Because we decline to vacate Count 16, we need not address 

.KDWDOODK¶V�FODLP�IRU�YDFDWXU�RI�KLV�RWKHU�FRQYLFWLRQV�EHFDXVH�WKH\�
ZHUH�³SUHPLVHG�XSRQ�&RXQW����´� Khatallah Opening Br. 52.  

12  Khatallah also argues that the application of Section 924(c) 
in this case would be impermissibly extraterritorial.  Section 1363 
H[SUHVVO\�DSSOLHV�WR�RIIHQVHV�FRPPLWWHG�³ZLWKLQ�WKH�VSHFLDO�PDULWLPH�
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A 

Section 924(c) subjects any person who uses or carries a 
ILUHDUP�³GXULQJ�DQG�LQ�UHODWLRQ�WR�DQ\�FULPH�RI�YLROHQFH´�WR�D�
mandatory minimum prison sentence of five years, 18 U.S.C. 
§ 924(c)(1)(A)(i), to run consecutively with any other prison 
sentence, id. § 924(c)(1)(D)(ii).  An enhanced minimum 
sentence of ten years applies if the defendant used a 
semiautomatic assault weapon.  Id. § 924(c)(1)(B)(i). 

Section 924(c) defines two categories of offenses as 
predicate crimes of violence.  Its elements clause covers any 
IHORQ\� WKDW� ³KDV� DV� DQ� HOHPHQW� WKH� XVH�� DWWHPSWHG� XVH�� RU�
threatened use of physical force against the person or property 
RI�DQRWKHU�´�����8�6�&��� 924(c)(3)(A).  And its residual clause 
FRYHUV�DQ\�IHORQ\�WKDW�³E\�LWV�QDWXUH��LQYROYHV�D�VXEVWDQWLDO�ULVN�
that physical force against the person or property of another 
PD\� EH� XVHG� LQ� WKH� FRXUVH� RI� FRPPLWWLQJ� WKH� RIIHQVH�´� � Id. 
§ 924(c)(3)(B).  The Supreme Court has held that the residual 
clause is void for vagueness.  United States v. Davis, 139 S. Ct. 
2319 (2019).  An offense must therefore fall within the 
elements clause to support a Section 924(c) conviction. 

:H�DSSO\�D�³FDWHJRULFDO�DSSURDFK´�WR�GHWHUPLQH�ZKHWKHU�
an offense falls within Section ����F�¶V� HOHPHQWV� FODXVH���
Davis�� ���� 6��&W�� DW� ������ �8QGHU� WKLV� DSSURDFK��ZH� ³IRFXV�
VROHO\� RQ� ZKHWKHU� WKH� HOHPHQWV� RI� WKH� FULPH� RI� FRQYLFWLRQ´�
require the use, attempted use, or threatened use of physical 
force against the person or pURSHUW\�RI�DQRWKHU��³ZKLOH�LJQRULQJ�

 
DQG�WHUULWRULDO�MXULVGLFWLRQ�RI�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�´��$QG�DIWHU�.KDWDOODK�
filed his opening brief, we held that the territorial reach of Section 
924(c) is coextensive with the territorial reach of the underlying 
predicate offense.  United States v. Garcia Sota, 948 F.3d 356, 362 
(D.C. Cir. 2020).  In light of Garcia Sota, Khatallah presses his 
extraterritoriality claim only to preserve it for further review. 
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WKH�SDUWLFXODU�IDFWV�RI�WKH�FDVH�´��Mathis, 579 U.S. at 504.  In 
RWKHU� ZRUGV�� ZH� SUHVXPH� WKDW� WKH� GHIHQGDQW¶V� FRQYLFWLRQ�
³UHVWHG� XSRQ� QRWKLQJ� PRUH� WKDQ� WKH� OHDVW� RI� WKH� DFWV�
FULPLQDOL]HG�´��Moncrieffe v. Holder, 569 U.S. 184, 191 (2013) 
(cleaned up). 

6RPH�VWDWXWHV��NQRZQ�DV�³GLYLVLEOH´�VWDWXWHV��³OLVW�HOHPHQWV�
LQ�WKH�DOWHUQDWLYH��DQG�WKHUHE\�GHILQH�PXOWLSOH�FULPHV�´��Mathis, 
579 U.S. at 505.  When a statute defines multiple offenses and 
only some of them are crimes of violence, we apply a 
³PRGLILHG�FDWHJRULFDO�DSSURDFK�´��Id.  Under this approach, we 
ORRN�WR�³D�OLPLWHG�FODVV�RI�GRFXPHQWV�´�VXFK�DV�WKH�LQGLFWPHQW��
MXU\�LQVWUXFWLRQV��DQG�YHUGLFW�IRUP��³WR�GHWHUPLQH�ZKDW�FULPH��
with what elements, a defendant was convicteG�RI�´��Id. at 505±
06; see Johnson v. United States, 559 U.S. 133, 144 (2010).  If 
WKH�UHOHYDQW�GRFXPHQWV�HVWDEOLVK�ZLWK�³OHJDO�FHUWDLQW\´�WKDW�WKH�
conviction was for a crime of violence, the conviction may be 
used as a predicate offense.  Mathis, 579 U.S. at 515 n.6 
�FOHDQHG�XS����,I�WKH�UHOHYDQW�GRFXPHQWV�DUH�³DPELJXRXV�´�WKH�
FRQYLFWLRQ�³PD\�QRW�EH�XVHG�´� �United States v. Mathis, 963 
F.2d 399, 410 (D.C. Cir. 1992). 

2WKHU� VWDWXWHV� PHUHO\� OLVW� ³YDULRXV� IDFWXDO� PHDQV� RI�
FRPPLWWLQJ�D�VLQJOH�HOHPHQW�´��Mathis, 579 U.S. at 506.  For 
these statutes, we may not consider how the defendant 
committed the offense.  See id. at 509.  If any of the means does 
not require the use, attempted use, or threatened use of physical 
force against the person or property of another, then the offense 
is not a crime of violence.  See id. 

Count 18 of the indictment charged that Khatallah and 
others used or carried firearms during and in relation to several 
crimes of violence, namely the offenses charged in Counts 1±
17.  The jury instructions likewise stated without qualification 
that those counts charged predicate crimes of violence.  The 
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jury acquitted Khatallah on Counts 3±15 and 17.  And the 
government has declined to argue on appeal that Counts 1 and 
2, which charged Khatallah with conspiring to provide material 
aid to terrorists and providing material aid to terrorists in 
violation of Section 2339A, were crimes of violence.  That 
leaves Count 16, charging Khatallah with an offense under 
Section 1363, as the only possible basis for sustaining his 
conviction on Count 18.  As noted above, Section 1363 
LPSRVHV� FULPLQDO� OLDELOLW\� RQ� DQ\RQH� ZKR� ³ZLOOIXOO\� DQG�
maliciously destroys or injures any structure, conveyance, or 
other real or personal property, or attempts or conspires to do 
VXFK� DQ� DFW´� ZLWKLQ� WKH� VSHFLDO� PDULWLPH� DQG� WHUULWRULDO�
jurisdiction of the United States.  18 U.S.C. § 1363. 

B 

:H�EHJLQ�ZLWK�.KDWDOODK¶V�DFTXLWWDO�DUJXPHQW���.KDWDOODK�
argues that Count 16 did not charge a crime of violence because 
it is possible to violate Section 1363 by conspiring to injure 
property.  Mere conspiracy does not necessarily involve the 
use, attempted use, or threatened use of force.  As a result, 
Khatallah concludes, no properly instructed jury could have 
based a Section 924(c) conviction on Count 16. 

The government concedes that conspiring to injure 
property is not a crime of violence.  But it contends that Section 
1363 is divisible into an inchoate offense of conspiring to injure 
property and a substantive offense of injuring property, the 
latter of which is a crime of violence.  And it argues that 
documents such as the indictment show to the requisite degree 
of certainty that Khatallah was convicted of the substantive 
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offense.  We agree with both contentions, and we find more 
than sufficient evidence to support the conviction.13 

1 

Section 1363 is divisible.  The law has long treated 
conspiracy to commit a crime and the substantive crime that is 
the object of the conspiracy as distinct offenses rather than 
alternative means.  There is no reason to think Section 1363 
departed from this settled principle. 

In American Tobacco Co. v. United States, 328 U.S. 781 
(1946), the petitioners had been convicted of both 
monopolization and conspiracy to monopolize.  Id. at 783.  
Both convictions rested on the same statutory provision, which 
VXEMHFWHG� DQ\� SHUVRQ� ³ZKR� VKDOO� PRQRSROL]H�� RU� DWWHPSW� WR�
monopolize, or combine or conspire with any other person or 
SHUVRQV�� WR� PRQRSROL]H´� WR� D� ILQH� RI� XS� WR� ��������
imprisonment of up to a year, or both.  See id. at 784 n.2 
(cleaned up).  The petitioners asserted that they had been twice 
convicted of the same offense, in violation of the Double 
Jeopardy Clause.  Id. at 788.  The Supreme Court disagreed 
EHFDXVH� ³>L@W� ORQJ� KDV� EHHQ� VHWWOHG�«� WKDW� D� FRQVSLUDF\� WR�
commit a crime is a different offense from the crime that is the 
REMHFW�RI�WKH�FRQVSLUDF\�´��Id. at 789 (cleaned up). 

The Court reaffirmed this principle in Callanan v. United 
States, 364 U.S. 587 (1961).  The petitioner in that case had 
been convicted of both Hobbs Act robbery and conspiracy to 
commit Hobbs Act robbery.  Id. at 587±88.  Both convictions 

 
13  Section 1363 also covers attempting to injure property.  An 

attempted crime of violence is not always itself a crime of violence.  
See United States v. Taylor, 142 S. Ct. 2015, 2021±22 (2022).  But 
neither party suggests that the inclusion of attempt affects the 
outcome here, so we do not consider that question. 
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arose from the same statute, which subjected any person who 
³REVWUXFWV�� GHOD\V�� RU� DIIHFWV commerce or the movement of 
any article or commodity in commerce, by robbery or extortion 
RU�DWWHPSWV�RU�FRQVSLUHV�WR�GR�VR´�WR�D�ILQH�RI�XS�WR����������D�
prison term of up to 20 years, or both.  See id. at 588 n.1 
�FOHDQHG�XS��� �7KH� GLVWULFW� FRXUW� VHQWHQFHG� WKH� SHWLWLRQHU� ³WR�
FRQVHFXWLYH�WHUPV�RI�WZHOYH�\HDUV�RQ�HDFK�FRXQW�´�IRU�D�WRWDO�
sentence of 24 years.  Id. at 588.  The petitioner argued that he 
was either subjected to a punishment exceeding the statutory 
PD[LPXP�RU� WR�³WZR�SHQDOWLHV´� IRU� WKH�VDPH�RIIHQVH�� � Id. at 
589.  The Supreme Court affirmed the sentence.  It stressed that 
³>W@KH� GLVWLQFWLYHQHVV� EHWZHHQ� D� VXEVWDQWLYH� RIIHQVH� DQG� D�
conspiracy to commit is a postulate RI�RXU�ODZ�´��Id. at 593.  As 
D� UHVXOW�� ³WKH� FRPPLVVLRQ� RI� WKH� VXEVWDQWLYH� RIIHQVH� DQG� D�
FRQVSLUDF\�WR�FRPPLW�LW�DUH�VHSDUDWH�DQG�GLVWLQFW�RIIHQVHV�´��Id. 
(cleaned up). 

Khatallah offers three reasons why, despite this 
established principle, Section ����¶V� conspiracy and 
substantive offenses are not distinct.  None persuades. 

First, Khatallah notes that conspiring to injure property 
carries the same penalty as actually doing so.  It is true that two 
statutory alternatives are distinct offenses if they carry different 
punishments.  Mathis, 579 U.S. at 518.  But statutory 
alternatives can be distinct offenses even if they do not.  As 
noted above, the statutes in both American Tobacco and 
Callanan imposed the same penalty for both conspiracy and the 
substantive offense.   See 364 U.S. at 588 n.1; 328 U.S. at 784 
n.2. 

Second, Khatallah asserts that because Section 1363 
enumerates destroying, injuring, attempting, and conspiring in 
a single list of alternatives, there is no textual basis for treating 
some of them as elements and others as means.  Because 
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destroying and injuring property are not distinct offenses, he 
reasons, conspiracy must also be just another factual means for 
committing the one statutory offense.  Callanan forecloses this 
argument as well, for the statute at issue there had the same 
structure as Section 1363.  It listed different means of 
FRPPLWWLQJ� WKH� VXEVWDQWLYH� RIIHQVH� �³REVWUXFWV�� GHOD\V�� RU�
affects commerce or the movement of any article or commodity 
LQ�FRPPHUFH��E\�UREEHU\�RU�H[WRUWLRQ´���Iollowed by attempt 
�³RU� DWWHPSWV� «� WR� GR� VR´��� IROORZHG� E\� FRQVSLUDF\� �³RU�
FRQVSLUHV�WR�GR�VR´����See 364 U.S. at 588 n.1 (cleaned up).  Yet 
the Court held that the statute created a distinct conspiracy 
offense. 

Third, Khatallah relies on the jury instructions, which 
stated that he satisfied the first element of the offense charged 
LQ�&RXQW����LI�KH�³LQMXUHG�RU�GHVWUR\HG�RU�DWWHPSWHG�WR�LQMXUH�
or destroy or aided and abetted another to do the same or 
SDUWLFLSDWHG� LQ� D� FRQVSLUDF\� WR� LQMXUH� RU� GHVWUR\´� SURSHUty.  
Trial Tr. 5896±97 (Nov. 15, 2017, PM).  These instructions are 
irrelevant to the question whether Section 1363 is divisible.  
:KHUH�³DXWKRULWDWLYH�VRXUFHV�RI�>IHGHUDO@�ODZ´�HVWDEOLVK�WKDW�D�
federal statute is divisible, we cannot rely on instructions from 
a single trial to reach a contrary conclusion.  See Mathis, 579 
U.S. at 517±19. 

2 

Because Section 1363 is divisible, we consider whether the 
documents referenced in Mathis show with legal certainty that 
a properly instructed jury would have convicted Khatallah of 
the substantive offense.  See 579 U.S. at 505±06.  Count 16 of 
WKH� LQGLFWPHQW� FKDUJHG� WKDW� .KDWDOODK� ³GLG� ZLOOIXOO\� DQG�
PDOLFLRXVO\�GHVWUR\�DQG�LQMXUH´�WKH�0LVVLRQ�  App. 17.  It did 
not charge him with conspiracy.  Therefore, a properly 
instructed jury would have been told that, to convict Khatallah 
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as charged, it needed to find that he injured the Mission, either 
directly or through Pinkerton co-conspirator liability.  While a 
properly instructed jury could have convicted Khatallah of a 
substantive Section 1363 offense through Pinkerton liability, it 
is legally certain that a jury so instructed could not have 
convicted Khatallah of mere conspiracy.14 

3 

Finally, we consider whether a properly instructed jury 
could have found either that Khatallah himself used a firearm 
while committing a substantive offense of injuring property 
within the special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the 
United States, which would make him directly liable for 
violating Section 924(c), or that one of his co-conspirators did 
so foreseeably and within the scope of the material-support 
conspiracy, which would make Khatallah liable for the co-
FRQVSLUDWRU¶V�YLRODWLRQ�RI�Section 924(c) under Pinkerton. 

Ample evidence existed to support a conviction for a 
substantive Section 1363 offense under Pinkerton.  As 
GLVFXVVHG�DERYH��SOHQW\�RI�HYLGHQFH�VKRZHG� WKDW�.KDWDOODK¶V�
co-conspirators damaged the Mission foreseeably and within 
the scope of the conspiracy.  See supra Part III.  Likewise, 
SOHQW\� RI� HYLGHQFH� VKRZHG� WKDW� .KDWDOODK¶V� FR-conspirators 
used firearms during their attack on the Mission.  Video 
cameras captured two co-conspirators, Jamaica and Dijawi, 
carrying AK-47s while participating in the first wave of the 
attack.  The government presented this video evidence at trial, 
and a witness identified both Jamaica and Dijawi and the 

 
14  Because the indictment unambiguously charged only the 

substantive offense, we need not decide whether, in the posture of a 
motion for acquittal, the necessary legal certainty would be absent if 
the indictment had charged both the substantive offense and 
conspiracy. 
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weapons they were carrying.  Moreover, the use of firearms 
obviously would further a conspiracy to attack the Mission, and 
it was foreseeable that serious weapons like AK-47s would be 
needed to launch an open attack on a U.S. diplomatic facility.  
The jury thus had a reasonable basis for convicting Khatallah 
on a Pinkerton theory of liability for Count 18. 

Khatallah objects that we do not know whether the jury 
predicated the Section 924(c) conviction on a substantive 
offense of injuring property, as opposed to the offense of 
conspiring to do so, because the instructions permitted the jury 
to convict on Count 16 for a conspiracy offense and then stated 
without qualification that the offense charged in Count 16 was 
a crime of violence.  Trial Tr. 5897±98 (Nov. 15, 2017, PM).   
This argument is misplaced in the context of an acquittal 
motion, which, as explained earlier, tests sufficiency against 
³KRZ�D�SURSHUO\�LQVWUXFWHG�MXU\�ZRXOG�DVVHVV�WKH�HYLGHQFH�´�QRW�
RQ�³KRZ�WKH�MXU\�ZDV�LQVWUXFWHG�´��United States v. Hillie, 14 
F.4th 677, 682 (D.C. Cir. 2021) (cleaned up).  Because a 
properly instructed jury could readily have convicted on Count 
���� WKH� GLVWULFW� FRXUW� SURSHUO\� GHQLHG� .KDWDOODK¶V� DFTXLWWDO�
motion. 

C 

:H� QRZ� WXUQ� WR� .KDWDOODK¶V� FKDOOHQJH� WR� WKH� MXU\�
instructions on Count 18.  Because Khatallah did not object to 
the instructions below, we review this claim only for plain 
error.  FED. R. CRIM. P. 52(b).15 

 
15  The government argues that Khatallah invited any error by 

jointly proposing the instructions, and that his challenge to the 
instructions is thus unreviewable.  As with his challenge to his 
Section 1363 conviction, Khatallah cannot show plain error, so we 
need not resolve whether the invited-error doctrine applies here. 
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The parties dispute whether the instructions on Count 16 
impermissibly allowed the jury to convict Khatallah of an 
uncharged conspiracy offense, which could not serve as a 
predicate crime of violence for the Section 924(c) conviction, 
or whether the mention of conspiracy in Count 16 simply 
referred to instructions allowing the jury to convict Khatallah 
of a substantive offense under Pinkerton.  The parties also 
dispute whether any instructional error in this regard was 
sufficiently clear or obvious.  We need not resolve either of 
these disputes because any error, even if clear or obvious, was 
not prejudicial. 

To satisfy the third requirement of plain-error review, 
.KDWDOODK�PXVW�VKRZ�³D�UHDVRQDEOH�SUREDELOLW\�WKDW��EXW�IRU�WKH�
error, the outcome of the proceeding would have been 
GLIIHUHQW�´��Greer, 141 S. Ct. at 2093 (cleaned up).  For reasons 
explained above, Khatallah cannot make that showing.  
2YHUZKHOPLQJ� HYLGHQFH� HVWDEOLVKHG� .KDWDOODK¶V� Pinkerton 
liability for his co-FRQVSLUDWRUV¶�DFWV�LQMXULQJ�WKH�0LVVLRQ���$QG�
video evidence plainly showed the co-conspirators using 
firearms while doing so.  A jury properly instructed that only a 
substantive Section 1363 offense qualifies as a crime of 
violence would still very likely have convicted on Count 18. 

)RU� WKHVH� UHDVRQV�� ZH� GHFOLQH� WR� VHW� DVLGH� .KDWDOODK¶V�
conviction under Section 924(c). 

V 

.KDWDOODK� DUJXHV� WKDW� WKH� JRYHUQPHQW¶V� LPSURSHU� DQG�
prejudicial comments during closing arguments require a new 
trial.  Specifically, Khatallah claims that the prosecutor made 
unlawful inflammatory statements by appealing to WKH� MXU\¶V�
emotions and nationalism, while also denigrating the factual 
stipulations to which the government and defense had agreed.   
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:H�UHYLHZ�WKH�GLVWULFW�FRXUW¶V�GHQLDO�RI�D�PLVWULDO�motion 
complaining of prosecutorial misconduct for an abuse of 
discretion.  United States v. Moore, 651 F.3d 30, 50 (D.C. Cir. 
2011) (per curiam).  When a prosecutor commits misconduct 
to which the defendant objected at trial, the government bears 
the burden on appeal to show that the unlawful remarks were 
not substantially prejudicial.  United States v. Gartmon, 146 
F.3d 1015, 1026 & n.5 (D.C. Cir. 1998) (citing United States v. 
Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 734 (1993)).   

Reviewing the record, we agree with Khatallah that the 
SURVHFXWRU¶V�UHPDUNV�ZHUH�SODLQO\�LPSUoper and unbefitting a 
federal prosecutor.  But because the misconduct did not 
substantially prejudice Khatallah, the district court did not 
abuse its discretion in denying the motion for a new trial.   

A 

The government does not contest, nor could it on this 
UHFRUG��WKDW�WKH�SURVHFXWRU¶V�VWDWHPHQWV�LQ�KHU�FORVLQJ�UHEXWWDO�
crossed the line.  See *RY¶W�Opening Br. 63. 

It is settled law WKDW�³D�SURVHFXWRU�PD\�QRW�XVH�WKH�EXOO\-
pulpit of a closing argument to inflame the passions or 
prejudices of the jury or to DUJXH�IDFWV�QRW�LQ�HYLGHQFH�´��United 
States v. Childress, 58 F.3d 693, 715 (D.C. Cir. 1995) (per 
curiam).  So during closing arguments, prosecutors may not 
VHQVDWLRQDOL]H� WKH� IDFWV� RU� VHHN� WR� WXUQ� MXURUV¶� SHUFHLYHG�
prejudices or favoritism against a defendant.  See Moore, 651 
F.3d at 51±���� �1RU�PD\�WKH�JRYHUQPHQW�ZHDSRQL]H�D�MXU\¶V�
allegiance to their Nation or incite jurors to protect their 
community or act as its conscience.  See United States v. Vega, 
826 F.3d 514, 525 (D.C. Cir. 2016) (per curiam); see also 
United States v. Johnson, 231 F.3d 43, 47 (D.C. Cir. 2000).  
7KH� ODZ� DOVR� ³XQLYHUVDOO\� FRQGHPQ>V@´� DUJXPHQWV� WKDW� DVN�
MXURUV� WR� LGHQWLI\� WKHPVHOYHV� ZLWK� YLFWLPV� ³because [they] 
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encourage[] the jury to depart from neutrality and to decide the 
case on the basis of personal interest and bias rather than on 
HYLGHQFH�´  Caudle v. District of Columbia, 707 F.3d 354, 359 
(D.C. Cir. 2013) (internal quotation marks and citation 
omitted); see also United States v. Hall, 979 F.3d 1107, 1119 
(6th Cir. 2020); Arrieta-Agressot v. United States, 3 F.3d 525, 
527 (1st Cir. 1993) (reversing drug-distribution convictions 
EHFDXVH�RI�SURVHFXWRU¶V�FORVLQJ�arguments, in which he told the 
MXU\�WKDW�³>Q@RERG\�KDV�WKH�ULJKW�WR�« SRLVRQ�RXU�FKLOGUHQ>�@´�
and applauded the Coast GuDUG�IRU�³SURWHFWLQJ�XV´�IURP�³WKH�
HYLO�RI�GUXJV´�.  When a prosecutor presses such an us-versus-
them narrative in closing remarks to the jury, she walks a 
perilous legal line.  See Viereck v. United States, 318 U.S. 236, 
247±48 & n.3 (1943); United States v. DeLoach, 504 F.2d 185, 
193 (D.C. Cir. 1974); United States v. Moore, 375 F.3d 259, 
260 (3d Cir. 2004) (reversing conviction because, among other 
things, the prosecutor in closing statements delivered on 
September 10, 2002, repeatedly referred to a defendant on trial 
IRU�DUVRQ�DQG�XQODZIXO�JXQ�SRVVHVVLRQ�DV�D�³WHUURULVW´�.   

7KH�$VVLVWDQW�8�6��$WWRUQH\�ZKR�JDYH�WKH�JRYHUQPHQW¶V�
closing rebuttal surely knew this longstanding and foundational 
rule of law.  On top of that, the district court had previously 
ordered her not to refer to the United States Mission in 
%HQJKD]L��/LE\D�DV�³RXU´�0LVVLRQ���See Trial Tr. 4456 (Nov. 1, 
2017, $0���³>-@XVW�UHIHU�WR�LW�DV�WKH�8�6��0LVVLRQ��RND\"´�³<HV��
VLU�´���see also Khatallah IV, 313 F. Supp. 3d at 194.  The court 
KDG� DOVR� VSHFLILFDOO\� GLUHFWHG� WKH� SURVHFXWLRQ� ³WR� DYRLG�
JUDWXLWRXV�RU�XQQHFHVVDU\�XVHV�RI�WKH�WHUP>@�>WHUURULVW@�´��2UGHU�
at 1±2, United States v. Khatallah, 313 F. Supp. 3d 176 (No. 
1:14-cr-00141), ECF No. 371.  Yet in her closing rebuttal, the 
prosecutor brushed off WKH�FRXUW¶V�RUGHUV���6KH�EHJDQ� 

At this moment, I cannot tell you how proud I am to 
represent the United States of America and how 
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honored I am to call the United States Mission in 
Benghazi ours.  Yes, it is ours.  And « Ambassador 
Christopher Stevens is our son.  And brave American 
Sean Smith is an American son.  And Glen Doherty 
and Tyrone Woods, Navy Seals, are our American 
sons.  

And I cannot tell you how proud I am.  And yes, they 
are ours.  And the consulate and the other United 
6WDWHV�IDFLOLW\��WKH�&,$�$QQH[��WKDW¶V�RXUV�WRR���$QG�,�
will take that to the bank, and I will take full 
responsibility for saying that that is ours.  

Trial Tr. 6134±35 (Nov. 16, 2017, PM). 

7KH�SURVHFXWRU�WKHQ�WXUQHG�WR�WKH�GHIHQVH¶V�DUJXPHQW�WKDW�
Khatallah had an innocent explanation for being at the Mission 
on the night of September 11th.  She continued: 

The defendant is guilty as sin.  And he is a stone cold 
terrorist.  Innocent presence?  Innocent presence? « 
His hit squad was searing through the United States 
Mission, searing violently with rage²his rage against 
America, brandishing AK-47s, [rocket-propelled 
grenades] and all sorts of weapons to destroy us, those 
innocent men who are on the compound. 

Trial Tr. 6135 (Nov. 16, 2017, PM) (emphasis added).  
.KDWDOODK¶V�FRXQVHO�REMHFWHG�UHSHDWHGO\���Id. at 6136.   

The prosecutor DJDLQ�UHIHUUHG�WR�³RXU�$PHULFDQ�IDFLOLWLHV´�
DQG� ³RXU� 0LVVLRQ>�@´� SHUVRQDOL]LQJ the charged crimes as 
attacks on the jurors and the prosecution.  Trial Tr. 6149 (Nov. 
16, 2017, PM); see also id. at 6146 (asserting that Khatallah is 
JXLOW\�RI�³DWWDFNLQJ�RXU�IDFLOLWLHV´����6KH�DFFXVHG�.KDWDOODK¶V�



41 

 

³KLW�VTXDG´�RI�³DWWDFNLQJ�us>�@´�DQG�DVNHG�UKHWRULFDOO\�³>Z@K\�
are you attacking us"´��Id. at 6136 (emphases added).   

Later, the prosecutor turned to denigrating the written 
stipulations Khatallah had entered into evidence, and which the 
government itself had agreed were accurate.  Those stipulations 
ZHUH� WKH� SURGXFW� RI� ³OHQJWK\� QHJRWLDWLRQ>V@´� EHWZHHQ�
.KDWDOODK�DQG�WKH�JRYHUQPHQW��DQG�WKH�SDUWLHV�KDG�DJUHHG�WR�³D�
preamble that explained to the jury that the stipulations were 
summaries of classified information concerning the [Benghazi] 
attacks>�@´��Khatallah IV, 313 F. Supp. 3d at 184.  Because the 
defense lacked access to the underlying classified information, 
they did not know the sources behind the information and could 
not call them to testify.  Id.; see also Trial Tr. 5852±54 (Nov. 
15, 2017, PM) (explanation of stipulations).   

The prosecutor nevertheless disparaged the stipulations as 
³ZRUGV�RQ�D�SLHFH�RI�SDSHU´�DQG�XQIDYRUDEO\�contrasted them 
with ³ZLWQHVVHV� ZKR� \RX� FDQ� VHH�« who have been cross-
H[DPLQHG��ZKR�KDYH�EHHQ�FKDOOHQJHG�´��7ULDO�7U��������1RY��
16, 2017, PM); see also id. at 6153±54  (again dismissing 
VWLSXODWLRQV�DV�³ZRUGV�RQ�D�SLHFH�RI�SDSHU�´�DQG�DVVHUWLQJ�WKDW�
MXURUV� ³GR� QRW� NQRZ� WKH� UHOLDELOLW\� RI� WKHP� ZKDWVRHYHU´����
Defense counsel objected, and the court said it would deal with 
WKH� REMHFWLRQV� ³>D@IWHUZDUGV�´� � Id. at 6150.  At a bench 
conference immediately after the government closed, 
.KDWDOODK¶V�FRXQVHO�ORGJHG�VHYHUDO�REMHFWLRQV�DQG�PRYHG�IRU�D�
mistrial, asking the court to reserve its decision until after the 
jury verdict.  Id. at 6155±56.   

We expect better from an attorney representing the United 
States.  See Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88 (1935) 
�DOWKRXJK�D�SURVHFXWRU�³PD\�VWULNH�KDUG�EORZV��>VKH@�is not at 
OLEHUW\�WR�VWULNH�IRXO�RQHV´���United States v. McGill, 815 F.3d 
����� ���� �'�&�� &LU�� ������ �SHU� FXULDP�� �³$� MXVW� RXWFRPH�
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obtained through a fair, evenhanded, and reliable process 
VKRXOG�EH�WKH�JRYHUQPHQW¶V�JRDO��LW�LV�not WR�ZLQ�DW�DQ\�FRVW�´��
(emphasis in original).   

7KH�³VROH�SXUSRVH�RI�FORVLQJ�DUJXPHQW�LV�WR�DVVLVW�WKH�MXU\�
LQ�DQDO\]LQJ�WKH�HYLGHQFH>�@´��Moore, 651 F.3d at 52 (internal 
quotation marks and citation omitted).  Yet here, the prosecutor 
repeatedly encouraged WKH� MXU\� WR� ³VXEVWLWXWe emotion for 
evidence[,]´�DQG�she made an appeal to nationalism that was 
³ZKROO\�LUUHOHYDQW�WR�DQ\�IDFWV�RU�LVVXHV�LQ�WKH�FDVH��WKH�SXUSRVH�
and effect of which [was] only « to arouse passion and 
SUHMXGLFH�´� �Vega, 826 F.3d at 525 (internal quotation marks 
DQG�FLWDWLRQ�RPLWWHG����,Q�PDQ\�UHJDUGV��WKH�SURVHFXWRU¶V�FDOO�WR�
arms was similar to the closing speech the Supreme Court 
IRXQG� WR� EH� ³KLJKO\� SUHMXGLFLDO´ in Vierick v. United States.  
318 U.S. at 248.  In that case, the government tried a registered 
German foreign agent during World War II for failing to 
divulge certain propaganda activity.  Id. at 239±40.  In his 
FORVLQJ�UHPDUNV��WKH�SURVHFXWRU�WROG�WKH�MXU\�WKDW�WKH�³$PHULFDQ�
people are relying upon you « for their protection against this 
sort of crime, just as much as they are relying upon the 
protection of the men who man the guns in Bataan 
3HQLQVXOD>�@´��Id. at 247 n.3.  +H�WKHQ�³FDOO>HG@�XSRQ�HYHU\�RQH�
RI�>WKH�MXURUV@�WR�GR�>WKHLU@�GXW\�´��Id. at 247±48 n.3.  While the 
battles fought by the United States have changed, the ODZ¶V 
condemnation of such rhetoric has not.  

The prosecutor here further erred by maligning the 
stipulations entered into evidence by the defendant.  In the 
stipulations, which were based on classified sources, the 
government agreed that it possessed certain information or that 
a person known to the government would, if called to the stand, 
testify to certain facts.  See, e.g., Trial Tr. 5853±54 (Nov. 15, 
2017, PM).  Especially because of the GHIHQVH¶V�OLPLWHG�DFFHVV�
to the classified information underlying the stipulations, and 
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WKH� JRYHUQPHQW¶V� H[SUHVV� DJUHHPHQW� WR� WKHP�� WKH� SURVHFXWRU�
acted improperly in portraying the stipulations as 
untrustworthy and advising the jury to disbelieve them.  Said 
another way, the prosecutor LPSHUPLVVLEO\�DQG�³LQWHQWLRQDOO\�
PLVUHSUHVHQW>HG@�WKH�HYLGHQFH�´��Moore, 651 F.3d at 53.   

B 

Still, not all prosecutorial misconduct justifies vacating a 
MXU\� YHUGLFW�� � ³$� PLVWULDO� LV� D� VHYHUH� UHPHG\²a step to be 
avoided whenever possible, and one to be taken only in 
circumstances manifesting a necessity therefor.´��United States 
v. McLendon, 378 F.3d 1109, 1112 (D.C. Cir. 2004) (citation 
omitted).  +HUH�� LI� WKH� SURVHFXWRU¶V� UHEXWWDO� VXEVWDQWLDOO\�
prejudiced Khatallah, a mistrial would be required.  See Moore, 
651 F.3d at 50.  7R�DVVHVV�ZKHWKHU� WKH�SURVHFXWRU¶V� UHEXWWDO�
substantially prejudiced Khatallah, we consider ³���� WKH�
closeness of the case; (2) the centrality of the issue affected by 
WKH�HUURU��DQG�����WKH�VWHSV�WDNHQ�WR�PLWLJDWH�WKH�HUURU¶V�HIIHFWV�´��
Id. at 51 (quoting United States v. Becton, 601 F.3d 588, 598 
�'�&�� &LU�� �������� �:KLOH� ZH� ILQG� WKH� SURVHFXWRU¶V� UHEXWWDO�
argument ³GHHSO\� WURXEOLQJ�´� the government has met its 
burden of showing that the wrongful remarks did not cause 
Khatallah ³VXEVWDQWLDO�SUHMXGLFH�´��McGill, 815 F.3d at 921.   

First, on the charges for which he was convicted, the case 
against Khatallah was not close.  See Moore, 651 F.3d at 51.  
The jury convicted Khatallah for conspiring to provide, and 
providing, material support to terrorists, maliciously injuring 
property in the special jurisdiction of the United States, and 
carrying a firearm during a crime of violence.  The government 
presented powerful and mutually reinforcing evidence of 
.KDWDOODK¶V�JXLOW�RQ�DOO�IRXU�FRXQWV���See Parts III±IV, supra.  
0XOWLSOH�ZLWQHVVHV�DWWHVWHG�WR�.KDWDOODK¶V�SDUWLFLSDWLRQ�LQ�WKH�
attack on the Mission, and their testimony was bolstered by 
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corroborating phone records and contemporaneous video 
footage from inside the Mission compound.   

More specifically, Bilal al-Ubydi, a man overseeing a 
group of Libyan government militias, testified that several days 
before the attack he saw Khatallah, together with compatriots 
Aymen Dijawi and Zakaria Barghathi, securing munitions 
from a local military force.16  On September 11th, both Dijawi 
and Barghathi were seen on camera attacking the U.S. 
Mission.17  Phone records show that Khatallah was in contact 
with both men throughout the evening of September 11th, 
including right around the time that they were filmed at the 
compound.  See Khatallah V, 314 F. Supp. 3d at 192±93.  

The government also connected Khatallah with a third 
attacker from that night, a comrade of his known as Jamaica.  
According to FBI Special Agent Michael Clarke, Khatallah 
said during his interrogation that he spoke on the phone with 
Jamaica between 8:30 p.m. and 9 p.m. on September 11th while 
Jamaica was standing outside of the Mission.  Trial Tr. 3867±
68 (Oct. 30, 2017, AM); id. at 3935±36.  Two witnesses 
identified Jamaica on camera carrying a gasoline can and 
firearm during the subsequent attack.18     

 
16  Trial Tr. 2399, 2460±61, 2463±72 (Oct. 17, 2017, PM) (al-

Ubydi testimony). 
 
17  Trial Tr. 2548±49, 2551±52, 2556±57, 2562 (Oct. 18, 2017, 

AM) (al-Ubydi testimony); Trial Tr. 5062±63, 5066, 5077, 5059±61 
(Nov. 7, 2017, AM) (Majrisi testimony); see also Trial Tr. 3869 (Oct. 
30, 2017, AM) (Clarke testimony). 

 
18  Trial Tr. 5062, 5071±72, 5075±76 (Nov. 7, 2017, AM) 

(Majrisi testimony); Trial Tr. 2561 (Oct. 18, 2017, AM) (al-Ubydi 
testimony); see also Khatallah V, 314 F. Supp. 3d at 193. 
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Evidence at trial also firmly tied Khatallah to the scene of 
the attack.  Al-Ubydi testified that Khatallah called him at 
approximately 10:15 p.m. on September 11th and told him in a 
threatening tone to withdraw two men who were stationed near 
the Mission.  Trial Tr. 2531±34, 2543 (Oct. 18, 2017, AM).  
Khatallah told al-Ubydi that he was calling from near one of 
WKH�PLOLWLD¶V�WUXFNV�JXDUGLQJ�DQ�RUFKDUG�FORVH�WR�WKH�0LVVLRQ���
Id. at 2537±39 (al-Ubydi testimony).  Phone records confirm 
that Khatallah called al-Ubydi at 10:20 p.m. that night, albeit 
for a shorter period of time than al-Ubydi initially 
remembered.19     

Special Agent Clarke also placed Khatallah near the 
Mission that evening.  According to Clarke, Khatallah told the 
FBI in an interrogation that he had set up a roadblock near the 
Mission while the attack was underway.  Trial Tr. 3901±04 
(Oct. 30, 2017, AM).  Khatallah said he used the roadblock to 
WXUQ�DZD\�PLOLWLDPHQ�³UHVSRQGLQJ´�WR�WKH�DWWDFN���Id. at 3903 
(Clarke testimony).  According to another witness, Ali Majrisi, 
.KDWDOODK�ODWHU�DFFXVHG�RQH�RI�WKRVH�PLOLWLDV�RI�³LQWHUIHU>LQJ@´�
ZLWK�KLV�SODQ�WR�³NLOO�HYHU\ERG\´�DVVRFLDWHG�ZLWK�WKH�0LVVLRQ���
Trial Tr. 4994±95 (Nov. 6, 2017, PM).  Khatallah also told 
Clarke that, while he was near the Mission, he spoke by phone 
with a commander of a militia tasked with protecting the 
Mission.  Trial Tr. 3946±48 (Oct. 30, 2017, PM); Trial Tr. 2400 
(Oct. 17, 2017, PM).  Khatallah asked the commander why the 
PLOLWLD�ZDV�VKRRWLQJ�DW�³XV[,]´�DQG�ZDUQHG�KLP�WKDW�³>L@I�\RX�
NLOO�RQH�RI�XV��\RX�ZLOO�EH�LQ�WURXEOH�´��7ULDO�7U������±48 (Oct. 
30, 2017, PM) (Clarke testimony). 

Finally, Khatallah was filmed entering a building on the 
U.S. compound armed with an automatic rifle just before 

 
19  See Trial Tr. 2608±09 (Oct. 18, 2018, PM); App. 868, at line 

1608 (phone records); Trial Tr. 5583±85 (Nov. 13, 2017, PM). 
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midnight on September 11th.20  According to two witnesses 
viewing the video footage, Khatallah was accompanied by 
Dijawi, one of the men who had attacked the Mission in a 
previous wave and with whom Khatallah had picked up 
weapons.  See Trial Tr. 5085 (Nov. 7, 2017, AM) (Majrisi 
testimony); Trial Tr. 2632 (Oct. 18, 2017, PM) (al-Ubydi 
testimony).  After Khatallah exited the building, he gestured 
for several men to follow him.  See *RY¶W�([�����-44 (video 
evidence) (time stamp 00:02:25±00:02:32); see also Khatallah 
V, 314 F. Supp. 3d at 200. 

In short, the record evidence overwhelmingly supports the 
jury¶V verdict��OHDYLQJ�OLWWOH�SUDFWLFDO�URRP�IRU�WKH�SURVHFXWRU¶V�
appeals to nationalism and emotion to operate.   

Second, the district court took substantial steps to ensure 
that Khatallah was tried by an impartial jury and to mitigate 
DQ\� SUHMXGLFLDO� HIIHFWV� RI� WKH� SURVHFXWRU¶V� LQIODPPDWRU\� DQG�
misleading remarks.  See Moore, 651 F.3d at 51. 

Before the trial began, Judge Cooper required prospective 
jurors to complete a 28-page questionnaire to screen out jurors 
with relevant biases.  See Amended Prospective Juror 
Questionnaire, United States v. Khatallah, 313 F. Supp. 3d 176 
(No. 1:14-cr-00141), ECF No. 328.  The questionnaire asked 
prospective jurors ZKHWKHU�³QRQ-citizens accused of crimes in 
U.S. courts should be afforded the same constitutional rights as 
U.S. citizens>�@´�ZKHWKHU�³µSURRI�EH\RQG�D�UHDVRQDEOH�GRXEW¶�LV�
too heavy a burden for the prosecution to have to meet in a 
WHUURULVP� WULDO>�@´ and how difficult the prospective jurors 
ZRXOG�ILQG�LW�³WR�SUHVXPH�WKDW�D�SHUVRQ�ZKR�LV�FKDUJHG�ZLWK�

 
20  See *RY¶W�([�����-44 (video evidence) (time stamp 23:54±

23:55); Trial Tr. 2632±38 (Oct. 18, 2017, PM) (al-Ubydi testimony); 
Trial Tr. 5062, 5080±82, 5084±85 (Nov. 7, 2017 AM) (Majrisi 
testimony); see also Khatallah V, 314 F. Supp. 3d at 191. 
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conspiracy to kill United States citizens is innocent[.@´��Id. at 
24±26.  Potential jurors were also asked for their views on the 
Islamic faith and United States policy toward predominantly 
Muslim countries, as well as WKH�SRWHQWLDO�MXURUV¶�history with 
people of Libyan or Arabic descent.  Id. at 9, 12; see also 
Khatallah IV, 313 F. Supp. 3d at 194 (district court explaining 
its efforts ³to ensure that the defendant received a trial as free 
DV�SRVVLEOH�RI�QDWLRQDOLVWLF�DQG�FXOWXUDO�ELDVHV´���� 

The district court also gave an instruction on the spot to 
mitigate the HIIHFW�RI�WKH�JRYHUQPHQW¶V�inflammatory rebuttal.  
Shortly after the government spoke, Judge Cooper reminded 
WKH� MXU\� WKDW� ³WKH� DUJXPHQWV� RI� FRXQVHO� DQG� VWDWHPHQWV� RI�
FRXQVHO�DQG�TXHVWLRQV�E\�FRXQVHO�DUH�QRW�HYLGHQFH�LQ�WKH�FDVH�´��
Trial Tr. 6158 (Nov. 16, 2017, 30����7KH�FRXUW�DGGHG�WKDW�³LW�
is up to you to « GLVUHJDUG�DUJXPHQWV�RI�FRXQVHO�DV�HYLGHQFH�´��
Id��DW��������+H�DVNHG�WKH�MXU\�³>L@V�WKDW�FOHDU"´�DQG�WKH�MXU\�
indicated that it understood.  Id.  Several days later, just before 
the jurors began their deliberations, Judge Cooper again 
HPSKDVL]HG�WKDW�³WKH�>FORVLQJ@�DUJXPHQWV�RI�WKH� ODZ\HUV�WKDW�
you heard «�DUH�QRW�HYLGHQFH�LQ�WKH�FDVH��QRU�DUH�WKH�ODZ\HUV¶�
FKDUDFWHUL]DWLRQ�RI�WKH�HYLGHQFH>�@´��7ULDO�7U��������1RY������
2017, AM). 

The district court had made this point before.  At the 
EHJLQQLQJ� RI� WULDO�� -XGJH� &RRSHU� WROG� WKH� MXU\� WKDW� ODZ\HUV¶�
arguments are not evidence.  Trial Tr. 543 (Oct. 2, 2017, AM).  
The judge also instructed jurors that they should not allow the 
presence of Arabic translators and Arabic-speaking witnesses 
WR�³LQIOXHQFH�RU�ELDV�\RX�LQ�DQ\�ZD\>�@´��Id. at 547.  Then, as 
WKH�WULDO�GUHZ�WR�D�FORVH��KH�UHSHDWHG�WKDW�³>W@KH�VWDWHPHQWV�RI�
WKH�ODZ\HUV�DUH�QRW�HYLGHQFH�´��7ULDO�7U��������1RY����������, 
30��� � 7KH� FRXUW¶V� concluding jury instructions, which it 
provided before the parties made their closing arguments, 
directed jurors to reach their decisions free of prejudice.  Judge 



48 

 

&RRSHU� WROG� MXURUV� WKDW� WKH\� ZHUH� WR� ³GHWHUPLQH� WKH� IDFWV�
without prejudice, fear, sympathy or favoritism[,]´� DQd he 
VSHFLILFDOO\�ZDUQHG�WKHP�DJDLQVW�EHLQJ�³LPSURSHUO\�LQIOXHQFHG�
E\�DQ\RQH¶V�UDFH��HWKQLF�RULJLQ�RU�JHQGHU�´��Id. at 5866; accord 
Jury Instructions at 2, United States v. Khatallah, 313 F. Supp. 
3d 176 (No. 1:14-cr-�������� (&)� 1R�� ���� �³-XU\�
,QVWUXFWLRQV´���� 

7KRXJK� QRW� D� SDQDFHD�� WKH� WULDO� MXGJH¶V� LQVWUXFWLRQV�
PLWLJDWHG� WKH� SURVHFXWRU¶V� improper appeals to passion and 
prejudice.  See Moore, 651 F.3d at 54 �LQVWUXFWLRQ�WKDW�ODZ\HUV¶ 
DUJXPHQWV�DUH�QRW�HYLGHQFH� LV� ³XVXDOO\�D� VWURQJ�DPHOLRUDWLYH�
consideration for prosecutorial misconduct during « closing 
DUJXPHQW´�� �FLWDWLRQ� RPLWWHG��� see also McGill, 815 F.3d at 
922; Childress, 58 F.3d at 716.   

The district court also specifically countered the 
SURVHFXWRU¶V� PLVOHDGLQJ� VWDWHPHQWV� DERXW� WKH� HYLGHQWLDU\�
stipulations.  Shortly after the prosecutor concluded her 
rebuttal, Judge Cooper told the jury that the stipulations in 
HYLGHQFH�³ZHUH�DJUHHPHQWV� WKDW�ZHUH�QHJRWLDWHG�EHWZHHQ�WKH�
defense aQG�WKH�JRYHUQPHQW�YHU\�FDUHIXOO\>�@´�DQG�WKDW�WKH�MXU\��
³LQ�DVVHVVLQJ�WKH�PHDQLQJ�RI�WKH�VWLSXODWLRQ>V@�´�VKRXOG�³UHDG�
them carefully « [and] take them as they are written.  No more, 
QR�OHVV�´��7ULDO�7U��������1RY����������, PM).  Later, just before 
the jurors began their deliberations, the court stated explicitly 
WKDW� WKH� HYLGHQFH� LQFOXGHG� ³WKH� VWLSXODWLRQV� EHWZHHQ� WKH�
SDUWLHV>�@´�DQG�UHPLQGHG�WKHP�WR�UHDG�WKH�ZULWWHQ�LQVWUXFWLRQV�
about the stipulations.  Trial Tr. 6197 (Nov. 20, 2017, AM).  
Those instructions rHPLQGHG�MXURUV�WKDW��³>G@XULQJ�WKH�WULDO��\RX�
were told that the parties had stipulated²that is, agreed²to 
certain facts.  You should consider any stipulation of fact to be 
XQGLVSXWHG�HYLGHQFH�´� � -XU\� ,QVWUXFWLRQV� DW� ���(&)�1R�������
accord Trial Tr. 5866 (Nov. 15, 2017, PM). 
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 .KDWDOODK� FRQWHQGV� WKDW� WKH� MXGJH¶V� SRVW-rebuttal 
LQVWUXFWLRQ�GLG�QRW�DGGUHVV�WKH�UHDO�KDUP�IURP�WKH�SURVHFXWRU¶V�
dismissal of the stipulation²her claim that stipulations are 
inherently less trustworthy than live witnesses.  But the judge 
made clear that the jury should take the stipulations as 
³XQGLVSXWHG� HYLGHQFH>�@´� DQG� KH� SRLQWHG� RXW� WKDW� WKH�
government had agreed to them after careful negotiation.  Trial 
Tr. 5866 (Nov. 15, 2017, PM); accord Jury Instructions at 2, 
ECF No. 464; see also Trial Tr. 6159 (Nov. 16, 2017, PM).  
7KDW�GUDLQHG�WKH�SURVHFXWRU¶V�LOO-considered attack of much of 
its force.  Given that, the district court had good reason to be 
³FRQILGHQW� WKDW� WKH>@� UHSHDWHG�H[SODQDWLRQV�RI� WKH�QDWXUH� DQG�
legal effect of the stipulations « mitigated any potential 
FRQIXVLRQ�FDXVHG�E\�WKH�JRYHUQPHQW¶V�FRPPHQW�LQ�LWV�UHEXWWDO�
DUJXPHQW�´��Khatallah IV, 313 F. Supp. 3d at 192. 

Third�� ZH� ³RZH>@� GHIHUHQFH� WR� WKH� GLVWULFW� FRXUW¶V�
assessment of « D�VWDWHPHQW¶V�SUHMXGLFLDO�LPSDFW�RQ�WKH�MXU\�´��
Moore, 651 F.3d at 51 (citation omitted); see also McLendon, 
378 F.3d at 1113.  Judge Cooper was present for the entire trial 
and could see how the jury reacted to the prosecutor¶V�UHPDUNV 
DQG�WR�WKH�FRXUW¶V�LQVWUXFWLRQV���+LV�FDUHIXO�ILQGLQJs tKDW�³WKH�
MXU\�LQ�WKLV�FDVH�GLG�QRW�ULVH�WR�WKH�>JRYHUQPHQW¶V@�EDLW[,]´�DQG�
WKDW�WKH�³LPSURSHU�DWWHPSWV�WR�HOLFLW�V\PSDWK\�IRU�WKH�YLFWLPV�
were futile or perhaps even counter-SURGXFWLYH>�@´�Khatallah 
IV, 313 F. Supp. 3d at 194, 196, are borne out by the record.   

)RU�H[DPSOH��WKH�MXURUV¶�GHOLEHUDWLRQV�VSDQQHG�ILYH�GD\V��
see App. 972±74 (docket entries), and the jury sent several 
substantive questions to the judge as they weighed the facts, 
see, e.g., Note from Jury at 1, United States v. Khatallah, 313 
F. Supp. 3d 176 (No. 1:14-cr-��������(&)�1R�������³:KDW�LV�
the definition of µEUDQGLVKLQJ¶� LQ� [C]RXQW� ��"´��� 1RWH� from 
Jury at 1, United States v. Khatallah, 313 F. Supp. 3d 176 (No. 
1:14-cr-�������� (&)� 1R�� ���� �³:HUH� ZH� SURYLGHG� ZLWK� DOO�
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available surveillance video at the [M]LVVLRQ"´����7KH�MXU\�WKHQ�
acquitted Khatallah on all but four of the eighteen charges 
against him, and LW�PDGH�DQ�H[SUHVV� ILQGLQJ� WKDW�.KDWDOODK¶V�
actions did not result in death.  As the district court observed, 
WKH�MXU\¶V�PL[HG�YHUGLFW�suggests that its decisionmaking was 
not inflamed or driven by the prosecXWRU¶V�UHJUHWWDEOH�DSSHDOV�
to passion and prejudice.  See Khatallah IV, 313 F. Supp. 3d at 
196.  Notably, the jury acquitted on the charges most directly 
LPSOLFDWHG� E\� WKH� SURVHFXWRU¶V� LQFHQGLDU\� UKHWRULF²those 
accusing Khatallah of killing Americans.  See United States v. 
Small, 74 F.3d 1276, 1284 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (finding a jury¶V�
acquittal RQ� WKH� FKDUJH� PRVW� FRQQHFWHG� WR� D� SURVHFXWRU¶V�
wrongful remarks to be ³D�VWURQJ�LQGLFDWLRQ�WKDW�DQ\�SUHMXGLFH�
GLG�QRW�LPSHUPLVVLEO\�LQIHFW�>WKH�GHIHQGDQW¶V@�FRQYLFWLRQ´�.   

Of course, a split verdict is not unassailable evidence that 
D� MXU\�ZDV�XQPRYHG�E\� WKH�JRYHUQPHQW¶V�ZURQJIXO� UHPDUNV��
HVSHFLDOO\� ZKHQ�� DV� KHUH�� WKH� JRYHUQPHQW¶V� LPSURSHU�
statements addressed issues that were central to the case.  Still, 
WKH� MXU\¶V� FRnduct in this case indicates WKDW� LW� ³WRRN� >WKH�
FRXUW¶V@� LQVWUXFWLRQ>V@� WR� KHDUW� DQG� ZHLJKHG� WKH� HYLGHQFH��
unswayed by whatever passions and prejudices the 
SURVHFXWRU>¶V@� VWDWHPHQWV� PLJKW� KDYH� DWWHPSWHG� WR� VWRNH�´��
McGill, 815 F.3d at 922; see also Small, 74 F.3d at 1284 
�ILQGLQJ� SURVHFXWRU¶V� ZURQJIXO� FRPPHQWV� QRW� VXEVWDQWLDOO\�
SUHMXGLFLDO� EHFDXVH�� DPRQJ� RWKHU� UHDVRQV�� ³QRWKLQJ� LQ� WKH�
record suggests that the jury did not follow the instructions that 
DUJXPHQWV�RI�FRXQVHO�ZHUH�QRW�HYLGHQFH´���FLWLQJ�Richardson 
v. Marsh, 481 U.S. 200, 211 (1987)).   

As a result, after according due weight to the district 
FRXUW¶V�RQ-the-JURXQG�MXGJPHQW��WKH�MXU\¶V�QXDQFHG�YHUGLFW�DQG�
lengthy deliberations, the overwhelming evidence of 
.KDWDOODK¶V�JXLOW��DQG�WKH�GLVWULFW�FRXUW¶V repeated and targeted 
curative instructions, we agree with the district court that 
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Khatallah was not substantially prejudiced by the 
JRYHUQPHQW¶V�UHEXWWDO���See Moore, 651 F.3d at 53 (Even where 
DOOHJHGO\�XQODZIXO�SURVHFXWRULDO�FRPPHQWV�³DSSHDUHG�DW�WLPHV 
WR�DGGUHVV�FHQWUDO�LVVXHV�LQ�WKH�FDVH�´�WKH�FRPPHQWV�ZHUH�QRW�
VXEVWDQWLDOO\� SUHMXGLFLDO� EHFDXVH� ³WKHUH� ZDV� RYHUZKHOPLQJ�
HYLGHQFH�RI�DSSHOODQWV¶�JXLOW�RI� WKH�FULPHV� LPSOLFDWHG�E\� WKH�
SURVHFXWRU¶V� SXUSRUWHG� PLVFRQGXFW�� DQG� WKH� GLVWULFW� FRXUW�
[repeatedly] gave general limiting instructions on the 
arguments of counsel to the jury[.]´���� 

.KDWDOODK� UHVSRQGV� WKDW� WKH� SURVHFXWRU¶V� RZQ� FRQGXFW�
shows that she expected that her rhetoric would affect the jury.  
Khatallah also argues that the remarks were substantially 
prejudicial because they were made in rebuttal, when he had no 
opportunity to respond beyond objecting.  Neither argument 
succeeds.   

First, the fact that a prosecutor made inflammatory and 
improper statements��LQ�YLRODWLRQ�RI�WKH�GLVWULFW�FRXUW¶V�RUGHUV, 
does not by itself show that the government had a weak case.  
If clearly wrongful comments were self-evidently prejudicial, 
our separate tests for substantial prejudice and prosecutorial 
misconduct would collapse into one.  Instead, in assessing 
substantial prejudice, this court focuses on the closeness of the 
case, the centrality of the issues affected, and the steps the trial 
court took to mitigate the errors.  See United States v. 
Fahnbulleh, 752 F.3d 470, 480 (D.C. Cir. 2014).  Whatever the 
prRVHFXWRU¶V�VXEMHFWLYH�PRWLYDWLRQV�RU�EHOLHIV��RQ�EDODQFH�WKRVH�
factors show that Khatallah was not prejudiced by her improper 
statements.   

7KDW� WKH� SURVHFXWLRQ¶V� PLVFRQGXFW� RFFXUUHG� GXULQJ�
rebuttal does not change the outcome either.  Though 
defendants arH�SDUWLFXODUO\�YXOQHUDEOH�GXULQJ�WKH�JRYHUQPHQW¶V�
rebuttal because they cannot respond to wrongful remarks, see 
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United States v. Holmes, 413 F.3d 770, 776 (8th Cir. 2005), any 
prejudicial HIIHFW�ZDV� WHPSHUHG�KHUH�E\�.KDWDOODK¶V� DWWRUQH\�
correctly predicting in her own closing statement that the 
government would try to rile up the jury.  In fact, she 
VSHFLILFDOO\�ZDUQHG�MXURUV�QRW�WR�EH�WDNHQ�LQ�E\�WKH�SURVHFXWRU¶V�
³YHU\�LPSDVVLRQHG�« SOHDV>�@´��7ULDO�7U��������1RY����������, 
PM); see also id. �³,�GRQ¶W�JHW�an opportunity to respond [to the 
JRYHUQPHQW¶V�UHEXWWDO@���6R�,�ZRXOG�DVN�\RX�WR�WKLQN�FULWLFDOO\�
DERXW�ZKDW�\RX�KHDU�DQG�WR�PDNH�VXUH�WKDW�ZKDW�\RX¶UH�OLVWHQLQJ�
WR�LV�HYLGHQFH�DV�RSSRVHG�WR�DSSHDOV�WR�\RXU�V\PSDWKLHV�´���id. 
at 6051 �.KDWDOODK¶V� FRXQVHO� Dccusing the government of 
³SOD\>LQJ@� ZLWK� \RXU� HPRWLRQV>�@´� LQFOXGLQJ� E\� ³UHSHDWHGO\�
referring to « our [M]ission, our consulate, our 
[A]mbassador[�@´��  Those arguments anticipatorily threw a 
ZHW�EODQNHW�RQ�WKH�JRYHUQPHQW¶V�LQIODPPDWRU\�VWDWHPHQWV���Cf. 
Gaither v. United States, 413 F.2d 1061, 1080 (D.C. Cir. 1969) 
�UHDVRQLQJ�WKDW�SUHMXGLFLDO�HIIHFW�RI�SURVHFXWRU¶V�PLVVWDWHPHQW�
ZDV� ³ODUJHO\� FRXQWHUHG´� E\� WKH� GHIHQVH� FRXQVHO¶V�
FRQWHPSRUDQHRXV� REMHFWLRQ� DQG� KLV� VXPPDWLRQ� ³YLJRURXVO\�
contest[ing] the « misstaWHPHQW´�.  For that reason, as the 
GLVWULFW� FRXUW� IRXQG�� WKH�SURVHFXWRU¶V� UHPDUNV�PD\�ZHOO�KDYH�
KXUW�UDWKHU�WKDQ�KHOSHG�WKH�JRYHUQPHQW¶V�FDVH���See Khatallah 
IV, 313 F. Supp. 3d at 196.  

,Q�VXP��WKRXJK�WKH�SURVHFXWRU¶V�VWDWHPHQWV�LQ�UHEXWWDO were 
unlawful, we hold that the district court did not abuse its 
discretion in denying the motion for a mistrial.  

 
VI 

 
The government separately appeals the length of the 

sentence that the district court imposed.  The government 
argues that the 22-year sentence was a substantively 
unreasonable variance from the suggested Guidelines sentence 
of life imprisonment plus ten years.  Because the mandatory 
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PLQLPXP� VHQWHQFH� IRU� .KDWDOODK¶V� 6HFWLRQ� ����F�� RIIHQVH�
alone accounted for ten of those 22 years, the district court 
imposed a sentence of just twelve years for all of the non-
Section 924(c) charges combined²charges that independently 
supported a Guidelines sentence of life in prison. 

The district court attributed part of the variance to avoiding 
any reliance on charged conduct for which the jury had 
acquitted Khatallah.  The government does not dispute that the 
district court was permitted to discount acquitted conduct, and 
so we take that as given in this case.  But in sentencing 
Khatallah to just twelve years for the two support-of-terrorism 
counts and the property destruction count, the district court did 
not²and could not on this record²sufficiently justify its 
additional variance so far below the sentencing range that 
would have been appropriate even without any consideration 
of acquitted conduct.  It must be remembered that Khatallah 
was convicted of two counts of supporting terrorism and one 
count of attacking a United States Mission.  Given the gravity 
of such an assault on an American diplomatic facility and the 
GLVWULFW�FRXUW¶V�RZQ�UHFRJQLWLRQ�RI�WKH�YLWDO�QHHG�WR�GHWHU�VXFK�
FULPHV�� WKH� GLVWULFW� FRXUW¶V� ZHLJKLQJ� RI� WKH� 6HFWLRQ� �����D��
factors could not have supported such a stark additional 
variance beyond discounting acquitted conduct.  For that 
reason, we reverse and remand for resentencing.   

A 

The starting point of any federal sentencing proceeding is 
³FRUUHFWO\� FDOFXODWLQJ� WKH� DSSOLFDEOH� *XLGHOLQHV� UDQJH>�@´�
ZKLFK� VHUYHV� DV� WKH� ³LQLWLDO� EHQFKPDUN´� LQ� GHWHUPLQLQJ� DQ�
appropriate sentence.  Gall v. United States, 552 U.S. 38, 49 
(2007).  The Guidelines, though, are not mandatory.  See 
United States v. Booker, 543 U.S. 220, 258±59 (2005).  So the 
district court retains the discretion to vary upward or downward 
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from the Guidelines range after considering statutorily 
prescribed sentencing factors.  See 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a); see 
also Booker, 543 U.S. at 264±65.21 

Under Section 3553(a), sentencing courts must weigh a 
QXPEHU� RI� FRQVLGHUDWLRQV�� LQFOXGLQJ� �L�� ³WKH� QDWXUH� DQG�
circumstances of the offense and the history and characteristics 
RI�WKH�GHIHQGDQW�´��LL��³WKH�QHHG�IRU�WKH�VHQWHQFH�LPSRVHG²(A) 
to reflect the seriousness of the offense, to promote respect for 
the law, and to provide just punishment for the offense[,] (B) 
to afford adequate deterrence to criminal conduct[,] (C) to 
protect the public from further crimes of the defendant[,] and 
(D��WR�SURYLGH�WKH�GHIHQGDQW�ZLWK�QHHGHG�>UHKDELOLWDWLRQ@´��DQG�
�LLL�� ³WKH� QHHG� WR� DYRLG� XQZDUUDQWHG� VHQWHQFLQJ� GLVSDULWLHV�
among defendants with similar records who have been found 
JXLOW\�RI�VLPLODU�FRQGXFW>�@´�����U.S.C. § 3553(a).22   

 
21  $�³YDULDQFH´�UHIHUV�WR�D�VHQWHQFH�RXWVLGH�RI�WKH�UHFRPPHQGHG�

*XLGHOLQHV� UDQJH� ³EDVHG� RQ� WKH� DSSOLFDEOH� IDFWRUV� LQ� ��� 8�6�&��
§ �����D��WDNHQ�DV�D�ZKROH�´��United States v. Murray, 897 F.3d 298, 
���� Q��� �'�&��&LU�� ������� � 7KDW� LV� GLIIHUHQW� IURP� D� ³GHSDUWXUH>�@´�
which refers to a sentence outside of the recommended Guidelines 
range based on factors specified in the Sentencing Guidelines 
themselves.  Id.  

 
22  Section 3553(a) states: 

 
The court shall impose a sentence sufficient, but not greater 
than necessary, to comply with the purposes set forth in 
paragraph (2) of this subsection.  The court, in determining the 
particular sentence to be imposed, shall consider² 
(1) the nature and circumstances of the offense and the history 

and characteristics of the defendant; 
(2) the need for the sentence imposed² 
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$�VHQWHQFLQJ�FRXUW�³PD\�QRW�SUHVXPH�WKDW�WKH�*XLGHOLQHV�
UDQJH�LV�UHDVRQDEOH�´��Gall, 552 U.S. at 50.  Rather, the court 
³PXVW�PDNH�DQ� LQGLYLGXDOL]HG�DVVHVVPHQW�EDVHG� RQ� WKH� IDFWV�
SUHVHQWHG�´� � Id.  $QG� LI� WKH� FRXUW� ³GHFLGHV� WKDW� DQ� RXWside-
*XLGHOLQHV� VHQWHQFH� LV� ZDUUDQWHG�´� LW� ³PXVW� JLYH� VHULRXV�
FRQVLGHUDWLRQ´�WR�³WKH�H[WHQW�RI�WKH�GHYLDWLRQ�DQG�HQVXUH�WKDW�
the justification is sufficiently compelling to support the degree 
RI�WKH�YDULDQFH�´��Id.  at 46, 50.  After all, while not binding, 
WKH� *XLGHOLQHV� DUH� ³WKH� SURGXFW� RI� FDUHIXO� VWXG\� EDVHG� RQ�
extensive empirical evidence derived from the review of 
WKRXVDQGV�RI�LQGLYLGXDO�VHQWHQFLQJ�GHFLVLRQV�´��Id. at 46.  

 
(A) to reflect the seriousness of the offense, to promote 

respect for the law, and to provide just punishment for 
the offense; 

(B) to afford adequate deterrence to criminal conduct; 
(C) to protect the public from further crimes of the 

defendant; and 
(D) to provide the defendant with needed educational or 

vocational training, medical care, or other correctional 
treatment in the most effective manner; 

(3) the kinds of sentences available; 
(4) the kinds of sentence and the sentencing range established 

for « the applicable category of offense committed by the 
applicable category of defendant as set forth in the 
guidelines « issued by the Sentencing Commission «; 

(5) any pertinent policy statement « issued by the Sentencing 
Commission «[;] 

(6) the need to avoid unwarranted sentencing disparities 
among defendants with similar records who have been 
found guilty of similar conduct; and 

(7) the need to provide restitution to any victims of the 
offense. 
 

18 U.S.C. § 3553(a). 



56 

 

Sentencing decisions can be reviewed for both procedural 
HUURUV�DQG�WKHLU�³VXEVWDQWLYH�UHDVRQDEOHQHVV�´��Gall, 552 U.S. 
at 51.  In this case, the government does not dispute the 
SURFHGXUDO� SURSULHW\� RI� WKH� GLVWULFW� FRXUW¶V� DSSURDFK�� � ,W�
FKDOOHQJHV�RQO\�WKH�VXEVWDQWLYH�UHDVRQDEOHQHVV�RI�.KDWDOODK¶V�
sentence.  

We review the substantive reasonableness of a sentence for 
abuse of discretion.  See Gall, 552 U.S. at 51.  In doing so, we 
PXVW� ³WDNH� LQWR� DFFRXQW� WKH� WRWDOLW\� RI� WKH� FLUFXPVWDQFHV��
including the extent of any variance from the Guidelines 
UDQJH�´��Id.  $�UHYLHZLQJ�FRXUW�³PXVW�JLYH due deference to the 
GLVWULFW� FRXUW¶V�GHFLVLRQ� WKDW� WKH� >6HFWLRQ@������D�� IDFWRUV�« 
MXVWLI\�WKH�H[WHQW�RI�WKH�YDULDQFH�´��Id.  At the same time, the 
court must ensure that the district court has explained its 
FRQFOXVLRQ� ³WKDW� DQ� XQXVXDOO\� OHQLHQW� RU� DQ� XQusually harsh 
sentence is appropriate in a particular case with sufficient 
MXVWLILFDWLRQV�´��Id. at 46.  

B 

1 

The district court properly started its sentencing judgment 
E\� FDOFXODWLQJ� .KDWDOODK¶V� 6HQWHQFLQJ� *XLGHOLQHV� UDQJH���
%HFDXVH� .KDWDOODK¶V� 6HFWLRQ� ��4(c) firearms conviction 
carried a statutorily mandated minimum sentence of ten years 
(and a maximum of life), the Guidelines determination focused 
on the remaining counts of conviction²that is, the convictions 
for conspiring to provide material support to terrorists, 18 
U.S.C. § 2339A, providing such support, id., and maliciously 
destroying or injuring property within the special maritime and 
territorial jurisdiction of the United States, 18 U.S.C. § 1363. 

In computing the Guidelines range for those three offenses, 
the district court recognized that its analysis was not limited to 



57 

 

IDFWV� WKDW� WKH� MXU\� IRXQG�� EXW� FRXOG� LQFOXGH� DQ\� ³UHOHYDQW�
FRQGXFW�´� �8�6�6�*��� 1B1.3.23  While the jury, applying the 
beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard, made a specific finding 
WKDW�.KDWDOODK¶V�DFWLRQV�GLG�QRW�UHVXOW�LQ�GHDWK��WKH�GLVWULFW�FRXUW�
IRXQG� E\� D� SUHSRQGHUDQFH� RI� WKH� HYLGHQFH� WKDW� .KDWDOODK¶V�
relevant conduct had led to death.  See Khatallah V, 314 F. 
Supp. at 190.  The FRXUW�UHDVRQHG�WKDW�LW�ZDV�³PRUH�OLNHO\�WKDQ�
not that [Khatallah] agreed with several other participants to 
launch an armed attack on the Mission, and the attack 
foreseeably resulted in deaths that furthered the ends of the 
FRQVSLUDF\�´��Id.  For that reason, the district court determined 
WKDW� .KDWDOODK¶V� EDVH� RIIHQVH� OHYHO� IRU� WKH� WZR� WHUURULVP�
support counts, together with the property count, was 38, 
applying the Guideline for second-degree murder, U.S.S.G. 
§ 2A1.2(a).  The district court also found that .KDWDOODK¶V�
initial criminal history category was Category I.   

The court next applied sentencing enhancements for 
WHUURULVP� DQG� .KDWDOODK¶V� OHDGHUVKLS� UROH�� � 7KH� 6HQWHQFLQJ�
Guidelines call for a twelve-level increase in offense level and 
an automatic bumS� WR� FULPLQDO� KLVWRU\� &DWHJRU\� 9,� LI� ³WKH�
offense is a felony that involved, or was intended to promote, a 

 
23  ³5HOHYDQW� FRQGXFW´� LV� EURDGO\� defined in the Sentencing 

*XLGHOLQHV� WR� LQFOXGH� ³DOO� DFWV� DQG� RPLVVLRQV� FRPPLWWHG�� DLGHG��
abetted, counseled, commanded, induced, procured, or willfully 
caused by the GHIHQGDQW�´� DQG� LQ� WKH� FDVH� RI� ³MRLQWO\� XQGHUWDNHQ�
FULPLQDO� DFWLYLW\>�@´� DOVR� ³DOO� DFWV� Dnd omissions of others that 
were²(i) within the scope of the jointly undertaken criminal 
activity, (ii) in furtherance of that criminal activity, and (iii) 
UHDVRQDEO\�IRUHVHHDEOH�LQ�FRQQHFWLRQ�ZLWK�WKDW�FULPLQDO�DFWLYLW\>�@´��
U.S.S.G. § 1B1.3(a)(1).  RelevDQW�FRQGXFW�DOVR�VZHHSV�LQ�³DOO�KDUP�
WKDW�UHVXOWHG�IURP´�RU�³ZDV�WKH�REMHFW�RI´�WKRVH�DFWV�DQG�RPLVVLRQV���
Id. § 1B1.3(a)(3). 
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IHGHUDO�FULPH�RI�WHUURULVP>�@´�8�6�6�*��� 3A1.4(a), (b), defined 
as an offense falling within an enumerated list that 
is ³calculated to influence or affect the conduct of government 
by intimidation or coercion, or to retaliate against government 
FRQGXFW>�@´� ��� 8�6�&�� � ����E�J������ � 7KH� *XLGHOLQHV¶�
leadership enhancement separately calls for a four-level 
LQFUHDVH�LQ�WKH�RIIHQVH�OHYHO�LI�³WKH�GHIHQGDQW�was an organizer 
or leader of a criminal activity that involved five or more 
SDUWLFLSDQWV� RU� ZDV� RWKHUZLVH� H[WHQVLYH>�@´� � 8�6�6�*��
§ 3B1.1(a).   

In applying the terrorism enhancement, the district court 
IRXQG� WKDW� .KDWDOODK¶V� FRQGXFW� ZDV� ³PRUH� OLNHO\� WKDQ� not 
µLQWHQGHG�WR�SURPRWH¶�D�FULPH�FDOFXODWHG�WR�UHWDOLDWH�DJDLQVW�WKH�
8�6��JRYHUQPHQW�RU�WR�VKDSH�LWV�SROLF\�´��Khatallah V, 314 F. 
Supp. 3d at 199 (quoting U.S.S.G. § 3A1.4).  The court pointed 
WR�ERWK�³WKH�YHU\�FKRLFH�RI�WDUJHW�IRU�WKH�DWWDFN>�@´ id. at 198, 
DQG� WHVWLPRQ\� VKRZLQJ� WKDW� .KDWDOODK� KDG� ³H[SUHVVHG�
frustration about the United States spying on Libyans and 
0XVOLPV�LQ�%HQJKD]L>�@´�DQG�KDG�³GHVFULEHG�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�
RI�$PHULFD�DV�WKH�FDXVH�RI�DOO�WKH�ZRUOG¶V�SUREOHPV>�@´� id. at 
199 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).   

As for the leadership enhancement, the district court found 
that Khatallah organized or led the attack on the Mission.  The 
court relied on evidence showing that Khatallah procured 
weapons before the attack and instructed others during the 
DWWDFN�� DV�ZHOO� DV� WHVWLPRQ\� VXJJHVWLQJ� WKDW� KH� ³VDW� DWRS� WKH�
VWUXFWXUH� RI´� WKH� PLOLWDQW� JURXS� 8%-�� � Khatallah V, 314 F. 
Supp. 3d at 200.  The court also pointed to evidence introduced 
at the sentencing stage from a Libyan student who told the 
government that he had taken a picture of several men, 
including Khatallah, in a truck outside the Mission on the night 
of the attack, after which Khatallah instructed other men to 
detain him.  
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Based on those findings, the district court concluded that 
the Guidelines sentence for the two support-of-terrorism 
convictions, along with the property-destruction conviction, 
was life imprisonment.  The Section 924(c) count carried a 
statutory minimum of ten years to run consecutively to any 
other sentenFH��VR�.KDWDOODK¶V�DGYLVRU\�*XLGHOLQHV�VHQWHQFH�IRU�
all counts of conviction was life in prison plus ten years.  The 
JRYHUQPHQW�DJUHHV�ZLWK�WKH�GLVWULFW�FRXUW¶V�FDOFXODWLRQ�RI�WKDW�
Sentencing Guidelines range. 

2 

In its sentencing memorandum, the government asked for 
the maximum sentence permissible under the law, which was 
life plus fifty years²life in prison being the maximum 
authorized under Section 924(c) and fifty years being the 
combined statutory maximum sentences for the other three 
offenses.  Khatallah urged the court to impose a sentence 
between 51 and 63 months for the property damage and support 
of terrorism counts, and only the ten-year mandatory minimum 
on the Section 924(c) count.  

At the sentencing hearing, the court affirmed that it had 
considered all of the Section �����D��IDFWRUV�DQG�SURFHHGHG�³WR�
KLJKOLJKW´�ZKDW�LW�FRQVLGHUHG�WR�EH�³D�IHZ�RI�WKH�PRVW�UHOHYDQW�
IDFWRUV>�@´� � Sentencing 7U�� ��� �-XQH� ���� ������� � 7KH� ³PRVW�
LPSRUWDQW´� IDFWRU� IRU� WKH� GLVWULFW� FRXUW� ZDV� WKH� ³MXU\¶V�
DFTXLWWDOV>�@´� ZLWKRXW� ZKLFK� LW� ZRXOG� KDYH� EHHQ� ³DQ� HDV\�
VHQWHQFLQJ>�@´��Id. at 56±57.  The court recounted that the jury 
KDG�UHWXUQHG�³>I@RXU�FRQYLFWLRQV>�@�DOO�UHODWHG�WR�WKH�GHVWUXFWLRQ�
of a building at the Mission[,] and 14 acquittals and a specific 
finding that [KhataOODK¶V@� FRQGXFW� GLG� QRW� UHVXOW� LQ� DQ\RQH¶V�
GHDWK�´� � Id. at 58.  The court noted that it had considered 
acquitted conduct in calculating the Guidelines range.  See id. 
at 52±�����%XW�WKH�FRXUW�VWUHVVHG�WKDW�WKH�³>WZHOYH@�MXURUV�DQG�
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the three alternates « ZKR�VDFULILFHG�VHYHQ�ZHHNV´�WR�KHDU�WKH�
evidence and arguments and thoroughly deliberate each charge 
ZRXOG� OLNHO\� EH� ³VKRFNHG� WR� OHDUQ� WKDW´� .KDWDOODK� FRXOG� EH�
sentenced on the basis of conduct that they determined the 
government had not proven beyond a reasonable doubt.  Id. at 
�����,Q�WKH�GLVWULFW�FRXUW¶V�YLHZ��LQFUHDVLQJ�.KDWDOODK¶V�VHQWHQFH�
EDVHG� RQ� HYLGHQFH� WKH� MXU\� UHMHFWHG� ZRXOG� XQGHUPLQH� ³WKH�
fundamental purpose of the Sixth Amendment jury trial right, 
which is to ensure that before the government deprives 
someone of liberty it [has] persuade[d] a jury that it has proven 
HDFK�HOHPHQW�RI�WKH�FULPH�FKDUJHG�EH\RQG�D�UHDVRQDEOH�GRXEW�´��
Id. 

3DUVLQJ�WKH�MXU\¶V�YHUGLFW��WKH�FRXUW�FRQFOXGHG�WKDW�LW�³FRXOG�
rely solely on facts that the jury did not necessarily reject to 
apply both the leadership and the terrorism enhancement « 
>ZKLFK@�ZRXOG� UHVXOW� LQ� D� OLIH� VHQWHQFH�´� �Sentencing Tr. 60 
�-XQH�������������³%XW�VWHSSLQJ�EDFN�D�PLQXWH�´�WKH�FRXUW�VWDWHG�
WKDW�LW�ZDV�³FOHDU�HQRXJK�« that the jury explicitly found that 
>.KDWDOODK¶V@� FRQGXFW�GLG�QRW� UHVXOW� LQ�GHDWK�� WKDW� LW� UHMHFWHG�
many of the facts presented that tied [Khatallah] to direct 
participation in the first wave of the attacks and to the attack on 
the Annex, and that what it convicted him of was essentially a 
SURSHUW\�FULPH�´��Id.  ³>,@Q�OLJKW�RI�WKRVH�ILQGLQJV�´�WKH�GLVWULFW�
FRXUW�FDPH��³VRPHZKDW�UHOXFWDQWO\��WR�WKH�FRQFOXVLRQ�WKDW�D�OLIH�
VHQWHQFH� RYHUHVWLPDWH>G@� >.KDWDOODK¶V@� FULPLQDO� FRQGXFW� DQG�
FXOSDELOLW\�DV�LW�ZDV�GHWHUPLQHG�E\�WKH�MXU\�´��Id. at 60±61.  

The court then varied downward from the Guidelines range 
of life imprisonment to impose a sentence of just twelve years 
for each of the three counts of property damage and support of 
terrorism, to run concurrently, plus the mandatory minimum of 
ten years on the Section 924(c) count, to run consecutively as 
required by law.  That left Khatallah with a total sentence of 22 
years.   
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C 

This court has long left open the question of whether 
district courts are permitted to vary downward in order to avoid 
sentencing defendants on the basis of acquitted conduct.  See 
United States v. Settles, 530 F.3d 920, 923±24 (D.C. Cir. 2008); 
see also United States v. Bell, 808 F.3d 926, 928 (D.C. Cir. 
2015) (Kavanaugh, J., concurring in the denial of rehearing en 
EDQF�� �³[E]ven in the absence of a change of course by the 
Supreme Court, « federal district judges have power in 
individual cases to disclaim reliance on acquitted « 
FRQGXFW�´��� �:H�QHHG�QRW�GHFLGH� WKDW�TXHVWLRQ� WRGD\�EHFDXVH�
the government has conceded the point.  

7KH�SUREOHP�LV� WKDW� WKH�GLVWULFW�FRXUW¶V�VHQWHQFH�ZHQW� IDU�
lower than discounting acquitted conduct alone could support 
when it imposed a total sentence of just twelve years for the 
terrorism-support and property-destruction convictions.  Given 
the gap between the acquitted-conduct reduction and the 
twelve-year sentence imposed, the district court needed to 
provide reasons justifying the further steep reduction in 
.KDWDOODK¶V� VHQWHQFH�� � %HFDXVH� WKH� GLVWULFW� FRXUW� GLG� QRW� GR�
so²and could not have done so on this record²we reverse the 
sentence and remand for a new sentencing. 

1 

According to the government, after setting aside acquitted 
FRQGXFW�� .KDWDOODK¶V� *XLGHOLQHV� UDQJH� ZRXOG� KDYH� EHHQ� ���
years to life.  See S.A. 104; Sentencing Tr. 24 (June 27, 2018); 
*RY¶W� Opening Br. 83 & n.7.  It arrived at that range by 
decreasing the base offense level from 38 to 24 to account for 
WKH�MXU\¶V�DFTXLWWDOV�RQ�DOO�FKDUJHV�LQYROYLQJ�GHDWK��ZKLOH�DOVR�
retaining the terrorism and leadership enhancements that the 
district court acknowledged could be applied without reference 
to acquitted conduct. 
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Khatallah disagrees, arguing that the Guidelines range 
without acquitted conduct would also exclude the terrorism and 
OHDGHUVKLS�HQKDQFHPHQWV���+H�UHDVRQV�WKDW��³ZKLOH�WKH�GLVWULct 
FRXUW�FRQFOXGHG�WKDW�LW�µcould rely solely on facts that the jury 
did not necessarily reject to apply both the leadership and the 
WHUURULVP�HQKDQFHPHQW�¶�« [it] may have concluded that the 
jury actually rejected the facts necessary for those 
enhancementV�´��.KDWDOODK�5HSO\�%U������HPSKDVHV�LQ�RULJLQDO��
(citation omitted).   

%XW�.KDWDOODK�ZDV�QRW�³DFTXLWWHG´�IRU�FRQGXFW�XQOHVV�WKH�
jury necessarily determined that the facts underlying a charge 
or enhancement were not proved beyond a reasonable doubt.  
On tKLV�UHFRUG��ZH�DJUHH�ZLWK�WKH�GLVWULFW�FRXUW�WKDW�³WKH�MXU\�
GLG� QRW� QHFHVVDULO\� UHMHFW´� WKH� IDFWV� XQGHUO\LQJ� WKH� WHUURULVP�
and leadership enhancements.  Sentencing Tr. 60 (June 27, 
2018).  That is because three of the crimes of which the jury 
did convict Khatallah²conspiring to provide material support 
to terrorists, providing such support, and destruction of 
government property²are themselves qualifying offenses in 
WKH� GHILQLWLRQ� RI� ³>I@HGHUDO� FULPH� RI� WHUURULVP�´� � ��� 8�6�&��
§ 2332b(g)(5)(B)(i).  More specifically, the conduct underlying 
those offenses could support a finding that Khatallah intended 
³WR� LQIOXHQFH� RU� DIIHFW� WKH� FRQGXFW� RI� JRYHUQPHQW� E\�
intimidation or coercion, or to retaliate against government 
FRQGXFW�´��Id. § 2332b(g)(5)(A).  So too the jXU\¶V�DFTXLWWDO�RI�
Khatallah for the deaths that occurred in no way precluded the 
MXU\� IURP�VLPXOWDQHRXVO\� FRQFOXGLQJ� WKDW�.KDWDOODK�ZDV� ³DQ�
RUJDQL]HU� RU� OHDGHU´� RI� VRPH� DVSHFW� RI� WKH� DWWDFN�� �8�6�6�*��
§ 3B1.1(a).  After all, much of the evidence that supported the 
MXU\¶V�FRQYLFWLRQV�SRLQWHG�WR�.KDWDOODK¶V�UROH�DV�DQ�RUJDQL]HU�
of at least part of the attack on the Mission.  

In short, the jury did not acquit Khatallah of the conduct 
that would support application of the terrorism and leadership 
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enhancements.  Instead, its verdicts are consistent with a 
finding that Khatallah undertook conduct that would support 
those enhancements.  As such, the district court did not need to 
exclude those enhancements to calculate what the Guidelines 
range would be in the absence of acquitted conduct.  Because 
.KDWDOODK� GRHV� QRW� RWKHUZLVH� GLVSXWH� WKH� JRYHUQPHQW¶V�
calculation, we take as given that the Guidelines range would 
have been 30 years to life even without relying on acquitted 
conduct.  

Khatallah asserts that considering the Guidelines range that 
ZRXOG�KDYH�DSSOLHG�ZLWKRXW�DFTXLWWHG�FRQGXFW�SODFHV�³XQGXH�
HPSKDVLV´�RQ�WKH�*XLGHOLQHV���.KDWDOODK�5HSO\�%U�������7KDW�LV�
incorrect.  While the Guidelines are no longer mandatory, they 
³UHPDLQ� WKH� VWDUWLQJ� SRLQW� DQG� WKH� LQLWLDO� benchmark for 
sentencing, « [and] thus continue to guide district courts in 
exercising their discretion by serving as the framework for 
VHQWHQFLQJ>�@´� �Beckles v. United States, 137 S. Ct. 886, 894 
(2017) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).  As a 
result, the sentence that the Guidelines would deem appropriate 
after subtracting out the conduct for which Khatallah was 
acquitted remains a relevant consideration in assessing whether 
WKH�GLVWULFW�FRXUW¶V�YDULDQFH�ZDV�MXVWLILHG������ 

2 

$W� ERWWRP�� WKH� GLVWULFW� FRXUW¶V� UDWLRQDOH� IRU� YDU\LQJ�
downward to just a twelve-year sentence placed more weight 
on the acquitted-conduct rationale than it could bear.   

We note at the outset that neither this court nor the 
government takes issue with the procedural soundness of the 
GLVWULFW� FRXUW¶V� VHQWHQFLQJ� VWDWHPHQW�� � 7KH� GLVWULFW� FRXUW�
properly began with the Guidelines sentence, and then 
carefully and comprehensively considered the key sentencing 
factors set out in Section 3553(a), including the nature and 
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VHULRXVQHVV� RI� .KDWDOODK¶V� FRQGXFW�� .KDWDOODK¶V� SDUWLFXODU�
characteristics and history, and the need for general and 
specific deterrence.  

The problem, instead, is that after analyzing the Section 
�����D��IDFWRUV��WKH�GLVWULFW�FRXUW�VWDWHG�WKDW�³WKLV�ZRXOG�EH�DQ�
easy sentencing but for the final factor, « WKH� MXU\¶V�
DFTXLWWDOV>�@´� � Sentencing Tr. 56±57 (June 27, 2018).  This 
statement strongly implies that the other Section 3553(a) 
factors were D�ZDVK��DQG�EXW�IRU�WKH�MXU\¶V�DFTXLWWDOV��WKH�GLVWULFW�
court would have sentenced Khatallah consistent with the 
*XLGHOLQHV¶�UHFRPPHQGDWLRQ�RI�D�OLIH�VHQWHQFH���7R�WKDW�VDPH�
SRLQW�� LPPHGLDWHO\� DIWHU� DQDO\]LQJ� WKH� HIIHFW� RI� WKH� MXU\¶V�
acquittals, the distriFW�FRXUW�H[SODLQHG� WKDW�� ³LQ� OLJKW�RI� WKRVH�
findings, I have come, somewhat reluctantly, to the conclusion 
WKDW� D� OLIH� VHQWHQFH� RYHUHVWLPDWHV� WKH� GHIHQGDQW¶V� FULPLQDO�
FRQGXFW�DQG�FXOSDELOLW\�DV�LW�ZDV�GHWHUPLQHG�E\�WKH�MXU\�´��Id. 
at 60±61.  That leaves unexplained the basis on which the court 
varied downward from a 30-year sentence²the bottom of the 
Guidelines range once acquitted conduct is set aside²to just 
twelve years for the three support-of-terrorism and property 
counts.  An unexplained variance is a substantively 
unreasonable variance.   

But even if the district court also placed weight on Section 
3553(a) factors besides the acquittals in choosing a twelve-year 
sentence, those other factors are inadequate to support such a 
steep additional variance.  Every factor discussed by the district 
court other than acquitted conduct either supported imposition 
of a sentence within the Guidelines range or was a mixed bag.   

)LUVW�� WKH� GLVWULFW� FRXUW¶V� WUHDWPHQW� RI� WKH� QDWXUH� DQG� WKH�
VHULRXVQHVV� RI� WKH� GHIHQGDQW¶s conduct cannot support a 
sentence so much more lenient than the applicable Guidelines 
range even without considering acquitted conduct.  The court 
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UHPDUNHG� WKDW� LW� ³GLG� QRW� EHOLHYH� WKDW� >.KDWDOODK� ZDV@� DQ�
innocent bystander on the night of September 11, ����>�@´�RU�
WKDW�KH�³OHDUQHG�IRU�WKH�ILUVW�WLPH�WKDW�WKHUH�ZDV�D�8�6��IDFLOLW\�
LQ�%HQJKD]L� WKDW�QLJKW�´� �Sentencing Tr. 53 (June 27, 2018).  
7KH�FRXUW��LQ�IDFW��IRXQG�³DW�WKH�YHU\�OHDVW´�WKDW�.KDWDOODK��L��
³GURYH� VRPH� RI� >KLV@� PHQ� WR� WKH�0LVVLRQ´� WKH� QLJKW of the 
DWWDFN�� �LL�� ZDV� ³LQ� WHOHSKRQH� FRQWDFW� ZLWK� VHYHUDO� RI� WKHP�
EHIRUH��GXULQJ��DQG�DIWHU´�WKH�DWWDFN���LLL��³DSSHDUHG�RQ�FDPHUD��
armed, entering a Mission building while it was being 
UDQVDFNHG�´�DQG��LY��³GURYH�VHYHUDO�RI�>KLV�PHQ@�DZD\�WR�WKH�
camp of DQRWKHU�H[WUHPLVW�JURXS�DIWHU�WKH�DWWDFN�´� � Id. at 54.  
2Q� WKDW� EDVLV�� WKH� GLVWULFW� FRXUW� FRQFOXGHG� WKDW� .KDWDOODK¶V�
FRQGXFW�ZDV�³JUDYHO\�VHULRXV´�EHFDXVH��³HYHQ�LI�>KH@�GLG�>QRW@�
pour the gasoline or light the match, « the evidence showed 
that [he was] aware of the attack, and that once those gates were 
breached the likelihood of someone dying was extremely 
KLJK�´��Id. at 54±55.  So to characterize a terrorist attack on a 
GLSORPDWLF�RXWSRVW�DV�³HVVHQWLDOO\�D�SURSHUW\�FULPH´�ZDUUDQWLQJ�
a significantly below-Guidelines sentence both was 
LQFRQVLVWHQW� ZLWK� WKH� GLVWULFW� FRXUW¶V� RZQ� ILQGLQJV� DV� WR� WKH�
VHULRXVQHVV�RI�.KDWDOODK¶V�DFWLRQV�DQG�IDLOHG�WR�DFFRXQW�IRU�WKH�
two support-of-terrorism convictions.  Id. at 60.  Given the 
JUDYLW\� RI� .KDWDOODK¶V� WHUURULVP-support and Mission-
GHVWUXFWLRQ� FRQYLFWLRQV�� WKH� FRXUW¶V� WZHOYH-year sentence for 
WKRVH� FRXQWV� ZDV� ³VKRFNLQJO\� ORZ� DQG� XQVXSSRUWDEOH� DV� D�
PDWWHU�RI�ODZ´�RQ�WKLV�UHFRUG���United States v. Mumuni, 946 
F.3d 97, 108 (2d Cir. 2019).  

6HFRQG�� WKH� GLVWULFW� FRXUW¶V� GLVFXVVLRQ� RI� .KDWDOODK¶V�
individual characteristics and history offered scant support for 
an additional 60% downward variance from the Guidelines 
UDQJH���2Q�RQH�KDQG��WKH�MXGJH�VWDWHG�WKDW�KH�³DSSUHFLDWH>G@�WKH�
attention and the respect that [Khatallah had] given to these 
SURFHHGLQJV�´�DQG�RSLQHG�WKDW��EDVHG�RQ�WKH�YLGHR�WHVWLPRQLDOV�
VXEPLWWHG� WR� WKH� FRXUW�� .KDWDOODK� ³VHHP>HG@� WR� EH� D� KDUG-
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ZRUNLQJ� DQG� UHVRXUFHIXO� JX\´� ZLWK� ³D� VXSSRUWLYH� IDPLO\�´��
Sentencing Tr. 55±56 (June 27, 2018).  Yet, even assuming that 
paying attention and being respectful in court are relevant 
Section 3553(a) factors, the district court also told Khatallah 
WKDW�³\RX�VWULNH�PH�DV�D�FUHDWXUH�RI�>D�YLROHQW@�FXOWXUH��SHUKDSV�
not [a] stone-cold premediated terrorist «, but someone who 
might readily resort to or order violence in furtherance of 
ZKDWHYHU�LGHRORJLFDO�RU�SROLWLFDO�JRDOV�\RX�PLJKW�KDYH�´��Id. at 
55; see id. �GLVWULFW� FRXUW� ILQGLQJ� WKDW�.KDWDOODK� ³VSHQW� >KLV@�
entire adult life in a culture of violence, oppression by the 
Gaddafi regime, imprisonment in brutal conditions, armed 
conflict during the revolution and « civil war after the 
UHYROXWLRQ´��� � 7KRVH� FURVVFXWWLQJ� VWDWHPHQWV� UHJDUGLQJ�
.KDWDOODK¶V�FKDUDFWHULVWLFV�DQG�KLVWRU\�FRXOG�QRW�MXVWLI\�D�ORZHU�
sentence, let alone the extensive additional variance taken here.  

Third, the district court was similarly equivocal in its 
analysis of the need for general and specific deterrence.  The 
FRXUW�EHJDQ�E\�GHFODULQJ�WKDW�³DQ\RQH�LQWHQW�RQ�GRLQJ�« KDUP´�
to United States persons stationed abrRDG� ³PXVW� NQRZ� WKDW�
WKHUH� ZLOO� EH� FRQVHTXHQFHV>�@´� DQG� ³WKDW� WKH\� ZLOO� EH�
apprehended, prosecuted, and given stiff sentences, if they are 
FRQYLFWHG�´� � Sentencing Tr. 56 (June 27, 2018) (emphasis 
DGGHG����$W�WKH�VDPH�WLPH��WKH�FRXUW�VWDWHG�WKDW�LW�KDG�³QR�Ueason 
WR�GRXEW´�WKDW�RIIHQGHUV�OLNH�.KDWDOODK�³DUH�OHVV�DQG�OHVV�OLNHO\�
WR�UHRIIHQG�DV�WKH\�JHW�ROGHU>�@´�� Id.  $QG�LW�³GRXEW>HG@´�WKDW�
.KDWDOODK�³ZRXOG�KDYH�WKH�PHDQV�RU�WKH�RSSRUWXQLW\�WR�KDUP�
$PHULFD�DJDLQ>�@´��Id.  %XW�LW�DGGHG�WKDW�³FHUWDLQO\�WKHUH¶V�no 
JXDUDQWHH�RI�WKDW�´��Id.  

Those findings cannot support the variance that occurred 
here²or any downward variance at all.  Quite the opposite, the 
GLVWULFW�FRXUW¶V�RZQ�DQDO\VLV�RI�WKH�GHWHUUHQFH�LQWHUHVWV�DW�VWDNH�
acknowledged that they support a stiffer, not a lower, sentence.  
As the court noted, those contemplating attacks on the United 
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States, its official properties, and (most importantly) its 
personnel must know they will face severe consequences if 
apprehended and convicted.  Their leaders even more so.  The 
GLVWULFW�FRXUW¶V�YDULDQFH�GRZQ�WR�D�WZHOYH-year sentence did not 
match its own deterrence concerns.  Nor could such a variance 
EH�ZDUUDQWHG�RQ� WKLV� UHFRUG�JLYHQ� WKH�JUDYLW\�RI�.KDWDOODK¶V�
convictions.  

At bottom, on this record, the district couUW¶V�GLVFXVVLRQ�RI�
the Section 3553(a) factors was insufficient to justify a 
sentence substantially below the bottom of the Guidelines 
range that would have applied even in the absence of acquitted 
conduct.  As the reviewing court, it is our responsibility to 
HQVXUH�WKDW�³DQ�XQXVXDOO\�OHQLHQW´�VHQWHQFH�LV�VXSSRUWHG�³ZLWK�
VXIILFLHQW� MXVWLILFDWLRQV�´� � Gall, 552 U.S. at 46.  And it is 
³XQFRQWURYHUVLDO�WKDW�D�PDMRU�GHSDUWXUH�VKRXOG�EH�VXSSRUWHG�E\�
D�PRUH�VLJQLILFDQW�MXVWLILFDWLRQ�WKDQ�D�PLQRU�RQH�´��Id. at 50.  A 
decrease from a 30-years-to-life Guidelines range to just twelve 
\HDUV� LV� XQTXHVWLRQDEO\� D� ³PDMRU� GHSDUWXUH�´� � Id.  Even 
DVVXPLQJ� WKDW� WKH� GLVWULFW� FRXUW¶V� FRQVLGHUDWLRQ� RI� WKH� MXU\¶V�
acquittals justified a departure down to thirty years, a further 
variance to less than half of that is itself significant and requires 
independent justification.  Yet the district court did not offer a 
GLVFXVVLRQ� RI� VHQWHQFLQJ� IDFWRUV� EHVLGHV� WKH� MXU\¶V� DFTXLWWDOV�
WKDW�ZDV�³VXIILFLHQWO\�FRPSHOOLQJ�WR�VXSSRUW�WKH�GHJUHH�RI�Whe 
YDULDQFH�´��Id.  Nor could it have, given the facts of this case 
DQG�WKH�JUDYLW\�RI�.KDWDOODK¶V�WHUURULVP�RIIHQVHV�DQG�OHDGHUVKLS�
role in a violent attack on the Mission.      

D 

,Q� VXP�� ZKLOH� WKH� GLVWULFW� FRXUW¶V� GLVFUHWLRQ� WR� YDU\�
downward to discount acquitted conduct is undisputed in this 
case, the district court abused its discretion by varying 
downward significantly further and imposing a sentence both 
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lower than the minimum that would be appropriate in light of 
WKH�MXU\¶V�DFTXLWWDOV�DQG�IDU�ORZHU�Whan could be justified on this 
record by reference to the Section 3553(a) factors.  For that 
UHDVRQ�� RQ� WKH� JRYHUQPHQW¶V� FURVV� DSSHDO�� ZH� UHYHUVH� DQG�
remand for resentencing. 

VII 
 

The judgment of the district court is affirmed in part and 
reversed in part.  The case is remanded for resentencing. 
 

So ordered. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

MILLETT, Circuit Judge, concurring:  While I join the 
FRXUW¶V�RSLQLRQ� in full, I write separately with respect to the 
GLVWULFW� FRXUW¶V� VHQWHQFLQJ� GHFLVLRQ� to reconfirm what then-
Judge Kavanaugh and others have said:  District courts are 
permitted, in the exercise of their sentencing discretion, to do 
what the district court did here²to vary downward to ensure 
that a sentence is not predicated on acquitted conduct.  See 
United States v. Bell, 808 F.3d 926, 927±928 (D.C. Cir. 2015) 
(Kavanaugh, J., concurring in the denial of rehearing en banc).  
I have written separately before to explain why sentencing a 
defendant to a longer period of incarceration based on conduct 
of which he was acquitted by a MXU\�LV�D�³JUDYH�FRQVWLWXWLRQDO�
ZURQJ�´��United States v. Brown, 892 F.3d 385, 409 (D.C. Cir. 
2018) (Millett, J., concurring); see also Bell, 808 F.3d at 928±
932 (Millett, J., concurring in the denial of rehearing en banc); 
United States v. Bagcho, 923 F.3d 1131, 1141 (D.C. Cir. 2019) 
(Millett, J., concurring).  I continue to adhere to that view. 

But the question before us today is much more modest:  
May district courts choose not to consider acquitted conduct if 
they determine that doing so would be inconsistent with their 
responsibility to impose a just and reasonable sentence under 
18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)?  I agree wholeheartedly with Judge 
Kavanaugh that district courts have that authority.   

To be sure, for now, Supreme Court and circuit precedent 
³GR>@� QRW prevent the sentencing court from considering 
conduct underlying [an] acquitted charge[.]´��United States v. 
Watts, 519 U.S. 148, 157 (1997) (per curiam) (emphasis 
added); United States v. Settles, 530 F.3d 920, 923 (D.C. Cir. 
2008) (Kavanaugh, J.).  But nothing in binding precedent has 
ever required district courts to factor in such conduct when 
determining an appropriate sentence.  See Settles, 530 F.3d at 
923±924; cf. United States v. White, 551 F.3d 381, 386 (6th Cir. 
�������HQ�EDQF���³7R�VD\�WKDW�GLVWrict court judges may enhance 
D�GHIHQGDQW¶V�VHQWHQFH�EDVHG�RQ�DFTXLWWHG�FRQGXFW�
 * * is not 
to say that they must GR�VR�´�.  
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To the contrary, we have long left open the possibility that 
GLVWULFW� FRXUWV�PD\� ³GLVFRXQW� DFTXLWWHG� FRQGXFW� LQ� SDUWLFXODU�
cases²that is, to vary downward from the advisory Guidelines 
range when the district judges do not find the use of acquitted 
FRQGXFW�DSSURSULDWH�´��Settles, 530 F.3d at 924; see Bell, 808 
F.3d at 928 (Kavanaugh, J., concurring in the denial of 
rehearing en banc) �³>)@HGHUDO� GLVWULFW� MXGJHV� KDYH� SRZHU� LQ�
individual cases to disclaim reliance on acquitted * * * 
FRQGXFW�´����$QG�WKH�JRYHUQPHQW��IRU�LWV�SDUW��DJUHHV�WKDW�³WKH�
district court was permitted to vary downward to avoid 
sentencing Khatallah based on acquitteG� FRQGXFW>�@´� � *RY¶W�
Reply Br. 4; see also *RY¶W�5HSO\�%U������2UDO�$UJ��7U�����8±
����³><@RX�GRQ¶W�GLVSXWH�WKH�'LVWULFW�&RXUW¶V�DXWKRULW\�WR�YDU\�
GRZQ�WR�DYRLG�WDNLQJ�DFFRXQW�RI�DFTXLWWHG�FRQGXFW�´��³7KDW¶V�
FRUUHFW�´����� 

So there is no barrier to a district court varying downward 
in a manner that discounts acquitted conduct if it determines 
WKDW� GRLQJ� VR� DSSURSULDWHO\� ³UHIOHFW>V@� WKH� VHULRXVQHVV´� RU�
³QDWXUH� DQG�FLUFXPVWDQFHV�RI� WKH�RIIHQVH>�@´� ³SURYLGH>V@� MXVW�
punishment for the offense>�@´� ³SURPRWH>V@� UHVSHFW� IRU� WKH�
ODZ�´�RU�RWKHUZLVH�JLYHV�HIIHFW�WR�WKH�6HFWLRQ������D��IDFWRUV���
18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(1), (a)(2)(A). 

+HUH�� WKH�GLVWULFW� FRXUW� WRRN�KHHG�RI� -XGJH�.DYDQDXJK¶V�
suggestion in Bell DQG�YDULHG�GRZQZDUG�³WR�DYRLG�UHOLDQFH�RQ�
DFTXLWWHG� FRQGXFW´� LQ� VHQWHQFLQJ�.KDWDOODK.  Sentencing Tr. 
59:18±60:3 (June 27, 2018).  And the court did so in a 
thoughtful and carefully explained manner.  See id. at 60:4±
61:1.  Recall that the base offense level used in the Sentencing 
Guidelines calculations was that for second-degree murder 
because, in calculating the Guidelines range, the district court 
IRXQG�E\�D�SUHSRQGHUDQFH�RI�WKH�HYLGHQFH�WKDW�³GHDWK�UHVXOWHG��
or the offense was intended to cause death or serious bodily 
LQMXU\>�@´� � 8�6�6�*�� � 2K1.4(c)(1).  The jury, however, 
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acquitted Khatallah of all charges involving death and 
specifically found Khatallah not guilty of causing death 
through his material support of terrorism���7R�³UHVSHFW�
 * * the 
jury¶V� RYHUDOO� YHUGLFW� DQG� XQGHUO\LQJ� ILQGLQJV>�@´�Sentencing 
Tr. 62:6±7 (June 27, 2018), the district court varied downward 
to avoid sentencing Khatallah as if the jury had found that his 
conduct resulted in death.  The district court explained that, in 
its vLHZ�� ³VLJQLILFDQWO\� LQFUHDV>LQJ@� >.KDWDOODK¶V@� VHQWHQFH�
EDVHG�RQ�HYLGHQFH� WKDW� >WKH� MXU\@� UHMHFWHG´�ZRXOG�XQGHUPLQH�
³WKH�LPSRUWDQFH�DQG�WKH�VDQFWLW\�RI�MXU\�VHUYLFH��DQG�
 * * the 
fundamental purpose of the Sixth Amendment jury trial 
ULJKW>�@´��Id. at 59:8±14.  $IWHU�FDUHIXOO\�DQDO\]LQJ�WKH�MXU\¶V�
split verdict and giving due weight to its explicit finding that 
Khatallah was not guilty of conduct resulting in death, the 
district court FDPH� ³WR� WKH� FRQFOXVLRQ� WKDW� D� OLIH� VHQWHQFH�
[would] overestimate[] [KhatDOODK¶V@� FULPLQDO� FRQGXFW� DQG�
FXOSDELOLW\�DV�LW�ZDV�GHWHUPLQHG�E\�WKH�MXU\�´��Id. at 60:23±61:1. 

Of course, I am of the view that district courts not only can 
vary downward to sidestep reliance on acquitted conduct, but 
that they should do so based on bedrock legal principles.  
³>$@OORZLQJ� D� MXGJH� WR� GUDPDWLFDOO\� LQFUHDVH� D� GHIHQGDQW¶V�
sentence based on jury-acquitted conduct is at war with the 
IXQGDPHQWDO� SXUSRVH� RI� WKH� 6L[WK� $PHQGPHQW¶V� MXU\-trial 
JXDUDQWHH>�@´�DQG�ZKHQ�D�GHSULYDWLRQ�RI�OLEHUW\�LV�PDGH�ORnger 
based on facts the jury determined were not proved beyond a 
UHDVRQDEOH� GRXEW�� WKHQ� WKDW� JUHDW� ³OLEHUW\-protecting bulwark 
EHFRPHV�OLWWOH�PRUH�WKDQ�D�VSHHG�EXPS�DW�VHQWHQFLQJ�´��Bell, 
808 F.3d at 929 (Millett, J., concurring in the denial of 
rehearing en banc).   

,� DP� QRW� DORQH� LQ� WKDW� YLHZ�� � ³0DQ\� MXGJHV� DQG�
commentators have similarly argued that using acquitted 
FRQGXFW�WR�LQFUHDVH�D�GHIHQGDQW¶V�VHQWHQFH�XQGHUPLQHV�UHVSHFW�
IRU� WKH� ODZ� DQG� WKH� MXU\� V\VWHP�´� � Settles, 530 F.3d at 924.  
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Judge Kavanaugh lLNHZLVH�H[SODLQHG�WKDW�³>D@OORZLQJ�MXGJHV�WR�
rely on acquitted * * * conduct to impose higher sentences than 
they otherwise would impose seems a dubious infringement of 
WKH�ULJKWV�WR�GXH�SURFHVV�DQG�WR�D�MXU\�WULDO�´��Bell, 808 F.3d at 
928 (Kavanaugh, J., concurring in the denial of rehearing en 
banc); see id. at 927 (remarking that the practice by which a 
defendant can be acquitted of a crime by a jury of his peers, 
only to then be sentenced as if he had committed that very 
FULPH�� LV� D� VWXEERUQ� ³RGGLW>\@� RI� VHQWHQFLQJ� ODZ´�; see also 
Watts, 519 U.S. at 164 (Stevens, J., dissenting) (describing 
VHQWHQFLQJ�EDVHG�RQ�DFTXLWWHG�FRQGXFW�DV�D�³SHUYHUVH�UHVXOW´���
United States v. Baylor, 97 F.3d 542, 550 (D.C. Cir. 1996) 
�:DOG�� -��� FRQFXUULQJ� VSHFLDOO\�� �³>7@KH� XVH of acquitted 
conduct * * 
�LQ�FRPSXWLQJ�DQ�RIIHQGHU¶V�VHQWHQFH�OHDYHV�VXFK�
a jagged scar on our constitutional complexion that periodically 
its presence must be highlighted and reevaluated in the hopes 
WKDW�VRPHRQH�ZLOO�HYHQWXDOO\�SD\�DWWHQWLRQ>�@´���United States 
v. Mateo-Medina, 845 F.3d 546, 554 (3d Cir. 2017) 
�³>&@DOFXODWLQJ�D�SHUVRQ¶V�VHQWHQFH�EDVHG�RQ�FULPHV�IRU�ZKLFK�
he or she was not convicted undoubtedly undermines the 
fairness, integrity, and public reputation of judicial 
SURFHHGLQJV�´�� United States v. Alejandro-Montañez, 778 F.3d 
352, 362±������VW�&LU���������7RUUXHOOD��-���FRQFXUULQJ���³>,@W�
is inappropriate and constitutionally suspect to enhance a 
GHIHQGDQW¶V�VHQWHQFH�EDVHG�RQ�FRQGXFW�WKDW�WKH�GHIHQGDQW�ZDV�
* * 
�DFTXLWWHG�RI�´�� United States v. Canania, 532 F.3d 764, 
���� ��WK� &LU�� ������ �%ULJKW�� -��� FRQFXUULQJ�� �³3HUPLWWLQJ� D�
judge to impose a sentence that reflects conduct the jury 
H[SUHVVO\�GLVDYRZHG�WKURXJK�D�ILQGLQJ�RI�µQRW�JXLOW\¶�DPRXQWV�
to more than mere second-guessing of the jury²it entirely 
trivializes its principal fact-ILQGLQJ� IXQFWLRQ�´��� White, 551 
)��G� DW� ���� �0HUULWW�� -��� GLVVHQWLQJ�� �³>7@KH� XVH� RI� DFTXLWWHG�
conduct at sentencing defies the Constitution, our common law 
KHULWDJH�� WKH� 6HQWHQFLQJ�5HIRUP�$FW�� DQG� FRPPRQ� VHQVH�´�� 
United States v. Faust, 456 F.3d 1342, 1353 (11th Cir. 2006) 
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(Barkett, J., specially FRQFXUULQJ�� �GHFU\LQJ� WKH� ³SHUQLFLRXV�
HIIHFW� RI� VHQWHQFLQJ� RQ� WKH� EDVLV� RI� DFTXLWWHG� FRQGXFW´��� cf. 
Jones v. United States, 574 U.S. 948, 949 (2014) (Scalia, J., 
joined by Thomas & Ginsburg, JJ., dissenting from denial of 
FHUWLRUDUL�� �³>$@Q\� IDFW�QHFHVVDU\� WR�SUHYHQW�D� VHQWHQFH� IURP�
being substantively unreasonable²thereby exposing the 
defendant to the longer sentence²is an element that must be 
either admitted by the defendant or found by the jury.  It may 
not EH�IRXQG�E\�D�MXGJH�´�; United States v. Sabillon-Umana, 
����)��G���������������WK�&LU���������*RUVXFK��-����³:H�DGPLW�
[our premise] * * * assumes that a district judge may either 
GHFUHDVH� RU� LQFUHDVH� D� GHIHQGDQW¶V� VHntence (within the 
statutorily authorized range) based on facts the judge finds 
ZLWKRXW�WKH�DLG�RI�D�MXU\�RU�WKH�GHIHQGDQW¶V�FRQVHQW���,W�LV�IDU�
from certain whether the Constitution allows at least the second 
KDOI�RI�WKDW�HTXDWLRQ�´���� 

While it falls upon the Supreme Court to hold that 
sentencing defendants based on conduct for which they have 
been acquitted contravenes the Constitution and to firmly put 
an end to the practice, it is well within our bailiwick to reaffirm 
that district courts may vary downward to avoid reliance on 
acquitted conduct in individual cases.  Granted, trial judges 
may still be obligated to factor in acquitted conduct when 
calculating the Guidelines range to the extent it constitutes 
³UHOHYDQW�FRQGXFW>�@´�8�6�6�*��� 1B1.3.  See Bell, 808 F.3d at 
928 (Kavanaugh, J., concurring in the denial of rehearing en 
banc).  But since those Guidelines are only advisory, there 
VKRXOG�EH�QR�TXHVWLRQ�WKDW�³GLVWULFW�MXGJHV�PD\�WKHQ�YDU\�WKH�
sentence downward to avoid basing any part of the ultimate 
sentence on acquitted * * * conduct[,]´ id., and so to ensure a 
sentence is fair and appropriate as required by 18 U.S.C. 
§ 3553(a).   
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,Q� VXP�� WKH� SRUWLRQ� RI� WKH� GLVWULFW� FRXUW¶V� GRZQZDUG�
variance designed to avoid reliance on acquitted conduct was a 
sound and commendable exercise of discretion.  And it set an 
example that I hope other district court judges will follow to 
retain and ³SURPRWH� UHVSHFW� IRU� WKH� ODZ�´� ��� 8�6�&��
§ 3553(a)(2)(A), and to maintain the role of the jury trial as one 
of the greatHVW� ³JXDUG>V@� DJDLQVW� D� VSLULW� RI� RSSUHVVLRQ� DQG�
W\UDQQ\�RQ� WKH� SDUW� RI� UXOHUV´� HYHU� GHYLVHG��United States v. 
Gaudin, 515 U.S. 506, 510±511 (1995) (citation omitted).     

 


